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ealthcare Systems, Inc. et al v. IQVIA Holdings Inc. et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MEDIMPACT HEALTHCARE
SYSTEMS, INC., a California
corporation, MEDIMPACT
INTERNATINAL LLC, a California
limited liability company, MEDIMPACT
INTERNATIONAL HONG KONG LTD.,
a Hong Kong company,

Plaintiff,

V.

IQVIA INC., a Connecticut corporation
IQIA Ltd., a UK company; IQVIA AG, a
Swiss company, OMAR GHOSHEH,
individually, and AMIT SADANA,
individually,

Defendant

Doc

Case No.: 19¢cv1865-GPC(LL)

ORDER

1) DENYING DEFENDANTS’
MOTION TO DIMSISSFOR LACK
OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION

2) GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART DEFENDANTS’
MOTION TO DIMISSFOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM

[Dkt. Nos. 106, 107.]

Before the Court i®efendants’ motion to dismiss the first amended complaint

under Federal Rulef Civil Procedure (“Rule”) 12(b)(2) for lack of personal jurisdiction

and Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim. (Dkt. Nos. 106, 107.) @iopsswvere
filed by Plaintiffs as well as replies by Defendants. (Dkt. Nos. 110,1115],116.)
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Based on the reasoning below, the Court DENIEfndants’ motion to dismiss for lack
of personal jurisdiction and GRANTS in part and DENIES in paftndants’ motion to
dismiss for failure to state a claim.
Procedural Background

On September 26, 2019, Plaintiffs Medimpact Healthcare Systemg,MidSI™),
Medimpact International LLC‘MIL”), and Medlmpact International Hong Kong Ltd.
(“MI-HK”) (collectively “Plaintiffs” or “MedImpact”) filed a Complaint against
Defendants IQVIA Holdings, In¢IQVIA Holdings”), IQVIA Inc., IQVIA AG, Omar
GhosheR(“Dr. Ghosheh”) and Amit Sadané‘Sadana”) (collectively “Defendants™)
alleging twelve causes of action for misappropriation of trade secrets undearstat
federal law and other claims. (Dkt. No. 1, Compl.) On March 24, 2020, tim Co
granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction with leave to
amendt (Dkt. No. 91.) On April 7, 2020, Plaintiffs filed the operative fastended
complant (“FAC”). (Dkt. No. 93.) The FAC alleges ten causes of action for 1) breach
of fiduciary duty; 2) inducing breach of contract; 3) intentional interferende wit
prospective economic advantage; 4) negligent interference with progpectimomic
advantage; 5) intentional interference with a contractual relatior@hiprfair
competition; 7) conspiracy; 8) misappropriation of trade secrets undeetaedlrade
Secrets Act (“DTSA”), 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1836; 9) misappropriation of trade secrets under
California Uniform Trade Secrets ACtCUTSA”); and 10) violations of the Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)(ld.) The
named Defendants are IQVIA Inc., IQVIA Ltd., IQVIA AG, Dr. Ghosheh and Sadarn

(1d.)

! In that order, the Court also denied Plaintiffs’ request for jurisdictional discovery, denied Defendants’
motion to dismiss for insufficient service of process, and denied Defendants’ motion to dismiss for
failure to state a claim as moot. (Dkt. No. 91.)
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Factual Background

A. Joint Venture Between Medl mpact and Dimensions

Plaintiff MHSI was founded in San Diego, California, in 1989, and provides
pharmacy benefit management (“PBM?”) services to its clients. (Id. § 14.) It is the larges
privately held PBM provider in the United States with over 50 milliominers across
64,000 pharmacies. (MIt partners with the nation’s finest health plans, hospitals, self-
funded employers, state and local governments, and universitieslimgcthe University
of San Diego, to provide PBM services. (ld.) It has spent more than 30 yegars an
invested hundreds of millions of dollars developing itsppietary PBM platform. (Id.)

Plaintiff MIL is a wholly owned subsidiary of Medimpact and established and
existing under the laws of California and began international bigsopesations in 2011
and is active in the Middle East and Chinese markets§ i8.) MI-HK is a private
Hong Kong corporation, and is a wholly owned subsidiary of MIL, which iballyw
owned subsidiary of MHSI(Id. § 16) MI-HK’s principal place of business is in San
Diego and Medimpact employees in San Diego supportiKils business. (Id.)

Seeking to build up its PBM platform globally, from around 201201, MHSI
formed MIL to expand its PBM services internationally, including the Middle East’s Gulf
Region which had no PBM providers at the time. {180) Around 2011, MIL began
discussions with Dimensions to establish a joint ventueetdlits regulatory contacts a
presence in the United Aralrrates (“UAE”). (Id.) At the time, Dimensions sold
limited health IT software and integration products aimed primarily at @tgm
providers in the medical insurance market and did not have real-time onligkcadpn
capabilities in the PBM market. (Id. 1 30.) Dimensitliaslthcare LLC (“Dimensions”)
is a United Arab Emirates company headquartered in Dubai. (Dki.(€el, Ghosheh
Decl.  2.) Defendant Dr. Ghosheh iscefounder of Dimensions and has been
employed with Dimensions until his recent retiremamMarch 31, 2020 (Id. 1 2.)
Ghosheh is resident of Dub&lAE andis also a board member of Medimpact Arabia.
(Dkt. No. 93, FACY 22)
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Lam ol




O© 00 N oo o b W N B

N NN NN DNNNNRRRRRRR R R R
oo ~NI o 00 N0 N R O O 0O N o 00 DN NN RO

On March 21, 2011, MIL and Dimensions began working together under a N
Disclosure Agreement (“NDA”) where Dimensions agreed to strictly maintain the
confidentiality of MedImpact’s confidential and proprietary trade secret information an
not to use such information for any purpose other than the transestitemplated in th
NDA. (Id.131) Underthe NDA, MIL began sharing MedImpact’s closely guarded
proprietary and trade secret information with Dimensions. (ld.) Substguon
February 1, 2012, MIL and Dimensions entered & Joint Venture Agreement (“JV
Agreement”), under which they agreed to establish MedImpact Arabia (“MIA”) to
provide PBM services to the Gulf Region. (Id.) The JV Agreement required Bionet,
to maintain the confidentiality of “confidential and proprietary information or trade
secrets” and “not utilize the Confidential information for any purpose other than as
necessary to conduct the Business pursuant to this Contract (inchsdbogtemplated
by the Services and License Contract).” (Id.) On the same day, MIL and Dimensions
also entered into a servitevel agreement (the “SLC”) with similar confidentiality
provisions. (Id.) The SLC also stated that Claims Data could solely be used by the
for providing JV services. (ld.) By entering into the JV Agreement, Dimensigreed
that any business opportunity that arose under the agreement within thkayrawuld
strictly belong to the joint venturgld.) The Territory, at the time, included members
the Gulf Co-operation Council, Jordan, Lebanon, and any other countrarties o the
JV Agreement agreed in writingld.) On January 1, 2014, with the consent of
Dimensions, Plaintiff MIL assigned its rights and interest in the ja@ntwre to Plaintiff
MI-HK. (Id.)

MHSI spent decades developing its PBM platform in San Diego and is suppc
on servers in San Diego. (Id. 1 32t )processed about 25,000 to 30,000 claims per c
in San Diego on behalf of the JV. (IdAfter the execution of the NDA, the JV
Agreement, and SLC, through e-mails, phone calls and in person mesdingsj, and
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through MHSIs MedAccessplatform hosted on servers in San DielgledImpact’s San
Diego employees taught Dimensions, including Dr. Ghosheh, alb@spaicts of the
PBM. (Id. §33.) It was through the JV, under the protection of the confidentiality
restrictions, that Dimensions and Dr. Ghosheh gained acch&slimpact’s trade
secrets. (Id.)MedIlmpact and Dimensions successfully launched their first PBM in t
Middle-East Gulf region around October 1, 2011, and from 2011 thr20g6, MIA had
continued growth with increasing revenues and customers every(ictef 34.) Oman
Insurance was MIA’s largest customer accounting for about 25% of the JV’s revenue.
(Id.) By late 2015, MIA had processed tens of millions of pharmaceutical claims in
Middle Eag from MedImpact’s PBM platform in San Diego. (Id.)
B.  Defendants’ Acquisition of Dimensions

In late 2015, representatives from IQVIA AG (then IMS Health AG) and IQV|]
Ltd. (then IMS Health HQ Ltd.collectively “IMS Health’) contacted Medlmpact in Sg

Diego about five to six time by telephone and follow up emails regarding d&&H

AG’s interest in acquiring Dimensions but the true motives for the sitiquiwere never

disclosed.(Id.  35.) In late 2015, IMS Health employees Carlos Sdr$astos”) (now
with IQVIA Ltd.) Jordan Mitchell, James Salitan, Defendant Sadana (n6wWM@VIA
AG), Esther Horvath and Celine Zeng initiated several phone calls with Madimp
concerning IMS Health AG’s acquisition of Dimensions and during these conversations,
IMS Health learned about the JV business and repeatedly mispresentedrtgpied
that the JV would not be impacted by the acquisition. {|85]36.) IMS Health
directed due diligence type questions about the business, technologyasmediof the
JV to MedImpact’s executives in San Diego. (ld. 37.) From these conversations, IM
Health understood that Medimpact was a JV partner with Dimensions, wasrb&sed
Diego and provided its San Diego based PBM to the JV to adjudicate pharméaceuti

2 No party has described what MedAccess is.
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claims. (ld.) Representatives of Medimpact explicitly told IMS Healthigkass that
Medlmpact dd not sell pharmaceutical data. (Id.) Through conducting its own
diligence, IMS Health, on information and belief, knew that Dimensions wasageng
AIMS, a competing PBM product based off of MedImpact’s trade secrets but this
information was kept concealed during the phone calls and emails watimigiact. (d.)

For example, on December 9, 2015, Santos (now with IQVIA Ltd) emailed D
Brown, (“Brown”) President of MedImpact in San Diego, memorializing an earlier
meeting about IMS Health’s strategic intentions to acquire Dimensions and Defendant
Dr. Ghosheh and Defendant Sadana (now with IQVIA AG), and James Salitan, G¢
Counsel of IMS Health, were copied on the email. {I88.) The email sought the
opportunity to ask due diligence questiang access to “certain specific financial
information regarding the JV.” (Id.) On December 15, 2015, Santos sought more
information from MedIimpact in San Diego by providing a list of due diligejuestions
and copied Defendant Dr. Ghosheh, of Dimensions, Defendant SadanaSaditaes
Celine Zeng and Jordan Mitchell. (Id. 39.) On December 21, 2015, under false
pretenses, Santos reached out to Medimpact and copied Jordan Mltarhel, Salitan,
Defendant Sadana, Esther Horvath, Celine Zeng and Anuradha Pai and attelcaede)
of control consent form. (Id(40.) On December 27, 2015, Santos sent another em
Brown with follow up questions. (I§.41.) The numerous contacts by IMS Health (n
Defendants IQVIA AG and IQVIA Ltd) were filled with misrepresentations to
MedImpact’s officers and employees in San Diego that the acquisition of Dimensions
would not affect the JV and hid their true intent. {ld2.) Relying on IMS Health’s
representations that the JV would not be impacted, MedIimpact agreed to tisgiacqu
(1d.)

A consent letter, dated January 4, 2016, signed by Defendant Dr. Ghosheh
directed to MedImpact in San Diego with a confirmation that the JV wouldenaltered
(Id. 143). On January 11, 2016, IMS Health HQ Ltd. sent a follow up email to Brow
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organize a conference call between IMS Health and MedImpact executives and copied
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Yousef GhoshehDefendant Dr. GhosheBefendant Sadana and Jordan Mitchell. (Ig.

45.) On January 14, 2016, Defendant Sadana sent calendar invites, vigoemail
executives of MedImpact for a meeting with IMS Health and Medimpact on Januar
2016 to discuss the acquisition. (T46.)

In February 2016, after dishonestly obtaining consent from Medlmpact, after
having used Medlmpact to succeed in the PBM market in the Middle-East (ali,re
after having gained access to MedImpact’s proprietary and trade secret information to
develop AIMS, IMS Health AG (now IQVIA AG) acquired Dimensions. (1d.7.)
Through the acquisition, each IQVIA Defendant gained access to MedImpact’s trade
secrets and large repository of unmatched pharmaceutical data. (Id.) On informat
belief, one of the main motives for IMS Health AG purchasing Dimensions vedtdin
the pharmaceutical data and then sell it to pharmaceutical companiedingcl
California-based companies. (K48.) Attime of acquisition, Medimpact had
processed tens of millions of pharmaceutical transactions on its PBM platform in S
Diego and sent the data to MIA. (Id.) According to MedImpact, the pharncadaigdta
is proprietary and it does not sell the data to pharmaceutical comp@dig¢sin contrast
IQVIA, as part of its model, sells data to pharmaceutical companies. (Id.) fietha
acquisition, IMS Health executives continued to reach out to MedimpachiDi8go to
manage and oversee the joint venture though emails and calendar owaesférence
calls in February and March 2016. (14.49-53.)

In October 2016, IMS Health merged with Quintiles Transnational Holdings
creating QuintilesIMS.(Id. 154.) In November 2016, QuintilesIMS rebranded itself
IQVIA Holdings, Inc. (Id.) Defendant IQVIA, Inc., is a corporation organigeder the
laws of Delaware with its principal place of business in Danbury, Connecticut and
wholly-owned subsidiary of IQVIA Holdings(ld. 1 18.) Defendant IQVIA, Inc. has

3 Yousef Ghosheh is distinct from Defendant Dr. Omar Ghosheh.
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location in San Diego, California. (Id. 1 14.) Defendant IQVIA AG is a whoined
subsidiary of IQVIA Holdings, with its primary place of business in Switnerknd a
branch in Dubai, UAE(Id. 1 19.) IQVIA AG’s predecessor entity was IMS Health AG
or IMS AG. (Id.) IQVIA Ltd. is a subsidiary of IQVIA Holdings, incorporated i
England with its principal place of business in Reading, England{ @d.) IQVIA
Ltd.’s predecessor was IMS Health HQ Ltd. (Id.)
C. Development of AIMS

Beginning in 2015 and continuing until at least to late 2017, Diroessi
“developedts own competing PBM platform called Adjudication Insurance Manage
System (“AIMS”) using and a (sic) similar produ€@M, using MedImpact’s trade secret
and confidential informatioii. (Id. 55.) AIMS is described as a “platform for insurance
companies and third party administrators (TPAS) that enables automaitoheea

adjudication for the vast majority of the healthcare authorizations and clatims

advanced modules to administer its processing capabilities in nefatpdans & products

parameters such as benefits, groups, members, networks and other aspects.” (Id. § 56.)
After IMS Health AG acquired Dimensions, Dimensions made its first AIMS and IC
sales. (Id. 157.)

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants systematically schemed to target and steal
MedImpact’s customers and undermined and ultimately destroyed the joint venture f
their benefit. (Id.) Prior to terminating the JV, IQVIA AG and Dimensisuccessfully
stole the JV’s largest client, Oman Insurance, by offering AIMS to replace the PBM
product in June 2017Id. 11 58, 93.) Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana violated their fiducig
obligation to MIA. (1d.§57.) Sadana, who was the Senior Vice President & Geners:
Manager, Africa, Middle East and South Asia at IQVIA AG as well as Chairman of
JV’s Board of Directors, was a signatory to the contract between Oman Insurance and
Dimensions. (Id{58.) Sadana has been employed by IQVIA AG for over 7 years i

a member of the board of directors of Dimensions and was appointed chairman of
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board of MIA after Dimensions’ acquisition in February 2016. (Dkt. No. 1151, Sadana
Decl. 1 2.)

Once Defendantsiccessfully developed and marketed AIMS and stole the JV’s
largest customer, Dimensions terminated the JV. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC, $1D59A month
after signing the contract with Oman Insuranaeeluy 23, 2017, at IQVIA’s instruction,
Dr. Ghosheh signed a letter terminating the JV and mailed it to BroanrDiego. (Id.
160.) On the same day, Dimensidbnsunsel sent an email with the termination lettel
attached to Brown and General Counsel of Medimpact. (Id.) Sadana and Dr. Ghgsheh
were both copied on the email. (Id.)

In mid-September 2017, MedImpact representatives met with representatives of
IQVIA Ltd. (including Alistair Grenfell a senior management executive), IQVIA AG
(including Sadana) and Yousef Ghosheh to discuss the terminfitiol§.61.) At the
meeting, Grenfell represented that IQVIA’s subsidiary, Dimensions, was not going to bg
a competitor to Medlmpact in the PBM market even though Medimpact specifically
asked about the renewal status of certain clients, including Oman losu(kh)

On September 28, 2017, the Head of Medical and Life Claims at Oman Insufance
told MedImpact that it was using AIMS to replace MIA’s PBM platform. (ld. §62.)
Around the same time, when Brown confronted Sadana about this, he respamnded th
AIMS was a “black box”, misrepresenting AIMS and knowing that a contract had already
been signed with Oman Insurance and Dimensions. Qd.PDctober 1, 2017, Oman
notified MIA and MIL that it was terminating its PBM agreement with MIA. (1d.)

Plaintiffs allege that Oman’s termination of the PBM agreement was a direct result
of IQVIA AG’s conduct of misappropriating MedImpact’s trade secrets with Dimensions
for the purposef diverting MIA’s business to itself. (Id. §63.) Yet, when MedImpact
confronted Defendants, they denied any wrongdoing insisting that AIM&avaking
PBM and they were not competing with the JV. {164.)

In late 2017, Brown and Mr. Roberts, a board member ofiKl]-confronted Dr.
Ghosheh about AIMS and he continued to mispresent AIMS and refusexyitep

9
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technical information about it and refused their request to inspect it. (tdgrbiration
Tribunal found that AIMS had been copied friMiedImpact’s trade secrets. (1d.)

In September 2017, Mr. Yousef Ghosheh prepared a detailed analysis with 3
customerby-customer breakdown of each of MIA’s clients, its pricing, contract status
and summarizing which JV customers Dimensions and IQVIA hoped to takelzatray
was prepared for Grenfellld. § 65.) Plaintiffs claim that Defendants interfered with
MIA’s other existing clients such as Vidal Health, ADNIC, Metlife, AXA, and Aafiya,
andMIA’s prospective business and economic relationships with Al,K&l@& and
Warba. (1df65.) Further, the FAC claims that Defendants have responded to new
proposals for PBM services in Ghana and Saudi Arabia. (Id. 11 67-71.)

In addition,with Dimensions’ assistance, IQVIA has also marketed and sold
pharmaceutical data obtained from MedImpact’s platform to pharmaceutical companies
in California. (1d.4]72.) IQVIA has touted its “robust Patient level database for Dubai”
which is pharmaceutical data obtained from Medimpact in San Diego without ientg
(1d.)

MedImpact instituted arbitration proceedings agtllimensions in Dubai, UAE.
The Tribunal determined, in part, that Dimensions breached the JV Agieamaetine
SLC and copiededImpact’s trade secrets to develop AIMS and ICM platforms which
was in breach of the JV Agreement. (d.3.) The Tribunal entered a permanent
injunction against Dimensions and awarded damages to MIL and Mi-HK foonthuct
but it had no jurisdiction over the IQVIA Defendants. (Id.) As a redgubefendants’
conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered significant damages due to lost v é&mmn the loss g
customers anthjured MedImpact’s status and reputation in the PBM industry.(Id. 1
77,82))

Discussion

A. Legal Standard on Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2)

“When a defendant moves to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, the plaintiff

bears the burden of demonstrating that the court has jurisdiction.” In re Western States

10
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Wholesale Natural Gas Antitrust Litig. v. Oneok, Inc., 715 F.3d 746 ,(9th Cir. 2013).
If the motion is based on written materials rather than an evidentiary hearing, thi& g
need only make “a prima facie showing of jurisdictional facts to withstand the motion to
dismiss.” Bryton Purcell LLP v. Recordon & Recordon, 575 F.3d 981, 985 (9th Ci
2009). On a prima facie case, the court considers uncontroverted allegatibes
complaint as true and the court resolves all contested facts in favor of theommmym
party? In re Western States Wholesale Nat. Gas Antitrust Litig., 715 F.3d74169th
Cir. 2013) AT & T v. Compagnie Bruxelles Lambert, 94 F.3d 586, 588 (9th CB6)19
(same). At the same time, however, the plaintiff cannot establish jurisdictiieging
bare jurisdictionally-triggering facts without providing somedevice of their existence
Amba Mktg. Sys., Inc. v. Jobar Int’l, Inc., 551 F.2d 784, 787 (9th Cir. 1977).

“Where, as here, no federal statute authorizes personal jurisdiction, the district
court applies the law of the state in which the court sits.” Marvix Photo, Inc. v. Brand
Techs., Inc.p47 F.3d 1218, 1223 (9th Cir. 2011) (citations omitted). California’s long-
arm statute is “coextensive with the outer limits of due process under the state and federz
constitutions, as those limits have been defined by the United States Supreme Court.”
Republic Int’l Corp. v. Amco Eng’rs, Inc., 516 F.2d 161, 167 (9th Cir. 1976) (quoting
Threlkeld v. Tucker, 496 F.2d 1101, 1103 (9th Cir. 1974)). As,dhehCourt need only
consider the requirements of due process. Due process requires that nonresident
defendants have “minimum contact” with the forum state “such that the maintenance of
the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play andtsntial justice.” Int’l Shoe
Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945). Personal jurisdictiobecaither
“general” or “specific.” See Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A v. Hall, 466
408, 415-16 (1984). The FAC alleges specific jurisdiction alldbefendants. (Dkt.

No. 93, FAC 184.) “Personal jurisdiction must exist for each claim asserted against a

4 Defendants’ argument that on contested facts the court must “ignore FAC allegations contradicted by
such evidence” is not legally supported. (Dkt. No. 106-1 at 14.)

11
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defendant.” Action Embroidery Corp. v. Atl. Embroidery, Inc., 368 F.3d4,17180 (9th
Cir. 2004).
B.  Specific Jurisdiction

Specific jurisdiction exists when a case “aris[es] out of or relate[s] to the
defendant’s contacts with the forum.” Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A., 46
U.S. at 414 n. 8. The inquiry whether a forum State may assert specific jurisdictior
a nonresident defendant “focuses on ‘the relationship among the defendant, the forum,
and the litigation.” Walden v. Fiore, 571 U.S. 277, 284 (2014). Specific jurisdiction
limited to ruling on“issues deriving from, or connected with, the very controversy that
establishes jurisdiction.” Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A v. Bro@aé4 U.S,
915, 919 (2011citation omitted). “When there is no such connection, specific
jurisdiction is lackng regardless of the extent of a defendant’s unconnected activities in
the States.” Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Ct. of California, 137 6.1C71,
1781 (2017). A court must looko the defendant’s contacts with the forum State itself,
not thedefendant’s contacts with persons who reside there.” Walden 571 U.S. aR85.
Therefore, “mere injury to a forum resident is not a sufficient connection to the forum.”
Id. at 290 Rather, “an injury is jurisdictionally relevant only insofar as it shows that the
defendant has formed a contact with the forum State.” Id. Specifically, a court may
exercise specific jurisdiction over a defendant only where “the defendant's suit-related
conduct” “create a substantial connection with the forum [s]tate.” Williams v. Yamaha
Motor Co. Ltd., 851 F.3d 1015, 1022-23 (9th Cir. 2017) (quotiadd@h, 571 U.S. at
284-85)

The Ninth Circuit conducts a three-prong test to determine whether@esident
defendant is subject to specific personal jurisdiction,

(1) The non-resident defendant must purposefully direct his activities o
consummate some transaction with the forum or resident thereof; or perform
some act by which he purposefully avails himself of the privilege of
conducting activities in the forum, thereby invoking the benefits and
protections of its laws; (2) the claim must be one which arises out of or

12
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relates to the defendant’s forum-related activities; and (3) the exercise of
jurisdiction must comport with fair play and substantial justice, i.eugtm
be reasonable.

Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 F.3d 797, 802 (8tR@i4) (citing
Lake v. Lake, 817 F.2d 1416, 1421 (9th Cir. 1987))he plaintiff bears the burden of
satisfying the first two prongs of the test.” Id. If the plaintiff meets that burden, “the
burden then shifts to the defendant to ‘present a compelling case’ that the exercise of
jurisdiction would not be reasonable.” Id. (quoting Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 4]
U.S.462,476-78 (1985)).

On the first prong, the Court applies the purposeful direction anabysitaims
sounding in tort and the purposeful availment analysis famslaounding in contract.
Id. Here, although Plaintiffs bring both contract and tort claims, the casevhsle
sounds in tort. See e.g., Snowy Village USA, Inc.im,KCase No. 8:18v-01100JLS
DFM 2018 WL 11026378 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 13, 2018) (even though the plaintiff brin
both contract and tort claims, the case as a whole sounds in contract). Mdheover,
parties both apply the tort based purposeful direction asatyshis case.

C.  Purposeful Direction

Under the first prong, the Ninth Circuit applies the purposefattdon test
enunciated in Calder v. Jones, 465 U.S. 783 (198dhwarzenegger, 374 F.3d at 802
03, AXiom Foods, Inc. v. Acerchem Int’l, Inc., 874 F.3d 1064, 1069t(®Cir. 2017).
Under the three-part Cald&sffects” test to evaluate purposeful direction, Plaintiff must
establish that the defendant allegedly “(1) committed an intentional act, (2) expressly
aimed at the forum state, (3) causing harm that the defendant knows is likely to be
suffered in the forumtste.” Dole Food Co. v. Watts, 303 F.3d 1104, 1111 (9th Cir.
2002) (citing Calder, 465 U.S. at 783).

Defendants appear to challenge dribyintiffs’ ability to show the second factor
that each Defendant exprgsaimed conduct at the forum state. On the second factg

determine whether the defendant expressly aimed coadthetforum state, “[t]he
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proper question is not where the plaintiff experienced a particular injury or eftect bt
whether the defendant’s conduct connects him to the forum in a meaningful way.”
Walden,571 U.S. at 290. Thus, “mere injury to a forum resident is not a sufficient

(134

connection to the forum,” nor is defendant’s knowledge of plaintiff’s “’strong forum
connections’ . . . combined” with the “foreseeable harm” the plaintiff suffered in the
forum. Id. at 289-90. The Supreme Court in Walden made clear that the cetitboku
to the “defendant’s ‘own contacts’ with the forum, not to the defendant’s knowledge of a
plaintiff’s connections to a forum.” Axiom Foods, 874 F.3d at 1070 (citing Walden, 57
U.S. at 289). “Two principles animate the ‘defendant-focused’ inquiry.” Axiom, 874
F.3d at 1068 (citing Walden, 571 U.S. at 285). “First, the relationship between the
nonresident defendant, the forum, and the litigation ‘must arise out of contacts that the
‘defendant himself” creates with the forum State.”” Id. “Second, the minimum contacts
analysis examines ‘the defendant’s contacts with the forum State itself, not the

defendant's contacts with persons who reside there.”” 1d. “It follows that ‘a defendant’s
relationship with a plaintiff or third party, standing alone, is anffitsent basis for
jurisdiction.”” Id.

1. Expressly Aiming asto |QVIA Ltd.

Defendants argue that IQVIA Ltd., a UK-based company, is not subject tmpk
jurisdiction in California because the allegations against IQVIA isttimited to five
email communications regarding the acquisition of Dimensions, (FAC 9% )36vhich
the Court already rejesdlin its prior order, IQVIA Ltd. hosting a meeting in London if
September 2017 to discuss Dimensions’ decision to terminate the JV, (FAC Y 97, 102),
which the Court also rejected in its prior order, and IQVIA Ltd. allegedly redeiv
Plaintiffs’ claims data stolen from servers in California, (FAC { 103), which is a clai
barred by issue preclusion. (Dkt. No. 106-1 afl¥6})

® Page numbers are based on the CM/ECF pagination.
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Plaintiffs respad that IQVIA Ltd. expressly aimed its conduct at the forum wh
it initiated contact with Medlmpact representatives in Californigbtaia its consent to
Dimensions’ acquisition, and played a key role in driving the acquisition decision for the
purpose of gaining aess to and eventually stealing MedImpact’s trade secrets and JV
customers, selling data and then terminating th BAXC 1199-103). (Dkt. No. 110 at
21-22.)

The Court, in its prior order, granted dismissal on specific jurisdietsoto IQVIA
Holdings because the facts alleged did not link any conduatfehdant’s conduct
concerning trade secret misappropriation with the email communicati@ecember
2015 and January 2016. (Dkt. No. 91 at 15-16.) It noted that these email
communications may be tangentially related to the challenged cooidu
misappropriating trade secrets but because there were no allegations of any “ill
intentions to misappropriate during these pre-acquisitiomaarieations,” the Court
concluded they did not relate directly to the challenged cofd(izkt. No. 91 at 16.) In
addition, at the motion hearing, Plaintiffs raised facts, that werallegied in the
complaint, that these pre-acquisition communications in [2t& 2vere part of a schems
to misappropriate their trade secrets. The Court concluded it could nadectiese nev
allegations and granted Plaintiffs leave to file a FAC. (ld. nidlat 27)

In the FAC, Plaintiffs have added numerous additional facts to supporhakerso
jurisdiction over Defendants and have comdthe deficiencies the Court noted in its
order (Compare Dkt. No. 1, Compl, (50 pages) with Dkt. No. 93, FAC (82 pag€hkg
FAC continues to allege that IQVIA Ltd. communicated with MedimpaQalifornia

by telephone, email and at a conference, however, now, the FAC alleges thesaainte

these communications which assert facts to support a scheme of allegpgdropsiation

9%
>

\U

6 Specifically, the Court noted in its prior order that a representative of IQVIA Holdings never visited

California, did not have extensive online communications or telephone or emails communication
MedlImpact in California, and Plaintiffs did not point to any conduct of misappropriation through t
pre-acquisition communications. (Dkt. No. 91 at 18.)
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of trade secrétas well as facts to support claims for inducing breach of contract,
intentional interference with contractual relationéfipd intentional interference with
prospective economic advantatéDkt. No. 110 at 25.)

In Ciscq the plaintiff was a major supplier of set-top boxes in India and used

Viper1 7LN chip (“Viper chip”) in the power supply units of its set-top boxes. Cisco Sys.

Inc. v. STMicroelectronics Inc., No. 5:14cv3236-RMW, 2015 WL 5B8%t *1 (N.D.
Cal. Sept. 1, 2015). The Viper chip was manufactured in Europe and Asia by
subsidiaries of the defendant. [@ihe Viper chips were defective causing the set-top
boxes to shut down, and Cisco sought assistance from the detenDaspite their
assistance, the Viper chip continued to fail. The complaint allegeiy@egt, negligent
and intentional misrepresentations, negligent and intentioteaference with
prospective economic advantage, and intentional interference witmgxastitractual
relations Id. at *1. The plaintiff also claimedgroup of employees frothe
subsidiariesincluding ST Micre-taly, acted in a civil conspiracy to deny, conceal
information, and defraud Cisco regarding the nature, scope, and extent giénehp
issue Id. at *2. ST Micreltaly, an Italian corporation with a principal place of busin
in Cantania, Italy, moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurigatictld. The court

denied the motion to dismiss concluding that‘#epressly aimingprong was met

" Under the DTSAa plaintiff must allege that: “(1) the plaintiff owned a trade secret; (2) the defendant
misappropriated the trade secret; and (3) the defendant’s actions damaged the plaintiff.” Alta Devices,
Inc. v. LG Elecs, Inc., 343 F. Supp. 3d 868, 877 (N.D. Cal. 2018).

8 A claim for inducing breach of contract and intentional interference with contractual relations re
aplaintiff to plead: (1) a valid contract between the plaintiff and a third party; (2) the defendant’s
knowledge of this contract; (3) intentional acts designed to induce a breach or disruption of the
contractual relationship; (4) actual breach or disruption of the relationship; and (5) resulting dam
Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. v. Bear Stearns & Co., 50 Cal. 3d 1118, 1126 (1990);

An intentiona interference with prospective economic relationship claim requires a party to show “(1)
an economic relationship between the plaintiff and some third party, with the probability of future
economic benefit to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant's knowledge of the relationship; (3) intentiona
on the part of the defendant designed to disrupt the relationship; (4) actual disruption of the relaf]
and (5) economic harm to the plaintiff proximately caused by the acts of the defendant.” CRST Van
Expedited, Inc. v. Werner Enters., Inc. 479 F.3d 1099, 1108 (9th Cir. 2007)
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where the defendasitoral and written communications wiftisco’s San Diego
personnel contained false and misleading statements regarding defects irethehiig.
Id. at *4. In addition, the defendants were aware at the time that at leasbktihm
Cisco employees with whom they were communicating were based in Califtainia.

Similarly, in this case, the FAC alleges that the email and telephone
communication®y IQVIA AG and IQVIA Ltd. (then IMS Health AG and IMS Health
HQ Ltd. (collectively “IMS Health”), starting in late 2015 and early 2016 to Medlmpg
in San Diego was for the purpose of obtainiagntiffs’ consent to IMS Health’s (now
IQVIA AG’s) acquisition of Dimensions. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC {1 35-37.) However,
Plaintiffs claim that IMS Health did not reveal the true reasons behind quesgion,
which were to acquire Dimensions in order to access the prescigtgrdrug data
processed by Plaintiffs’ PBM platform and to compete unlawfully against Medimpact
the international PBM market hyterfering with MedImpact’s customers and
relationships using AIMS. (Id. 1 1, 2.) During these pre-acquisibammunications
starting in late 2015, IMS Health sought detailed financial nelclyical and business
information about the JV and, through its due diligence, leahrsdimensions was
developing AIMS, a competing PBM product based on MedImpact’s trade secrets. (Id.
1935-37.) Throughout these communication, IMS Health repeatedly misespedsthat
the JV would not be affected. (Y37, 40, 42, 43.)

Based on these facts, the Court concludes that Plaintiffs have pdeagmtma
facie showing that IQVIA Ltd. expressly aimed their conduct at Californiarakates to
the claims for misappropriation of trade secrets, inducing breach of comtractional
interference with prospective economic advantage and intentional intedexgh
contractual relationshipSee Cisco Sys. Inc., 2015 WL 5138556, at *4 (denying
dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction based solely on commumeatiat formed
the basis of the causes of action against the defendant); see als@of#{Coop. v.
Mountain West Computers, Inc., No. G1472RSM, 2015 WL 4479490, at *7 (W.D.
Wash. July 22, 2015) (court exercised personal jurisdiction over theddefein part
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because Utabased defendant “affirmatively contacted Microsoft” in Washington
“through internet contact with its servers and by telephone”). Because the Court
concludes that a prima facie case‘@tpressly aiminghas been met as to IQVIA Ltd.
based on the pre-acquisition communications, the Court need nodsddirether the
meeting hosted by IQVIA Ltd. in London in September 2017 and IQVIA Ltdgadly
received Plaintiffs’ claims data stolen from servers in California satisfy the‘expressly
aiming’ factor.

2. Expressly Aiming asto IQVIA AG

Defendants argue that the alleged facts to support that IQVIA AG Hazlesu
contacts with California are not sufficient as the Court already considered ecteae;
many of the same allegations. (Dkt. No. 106-1 at 22-23.) Plaintiffs sthmahiQVIA
AG, through phone, email and mail communications, expressly aimeddsatcat the
forum when it: (1) affirmatively contacted Medlmpact to obtain consentdor i
acquisition of Dimensions, (2) repeated misrepresentations thai itchiatent to end thé
JV, (3) engaged in JV business while stealing JV customers and trade secsels, J¥)
data, (5) blatantly lied about the AIMS platform and (6) played a key role in temgna
the JV, through the phone, email and mail, (FAC 11 90-@3%t. No. 110 at 21.)

In addition to the facts that support jurisdiction agdi@tlA Ltd., as those are
also alleged against IQVIA AG, the FAC also alleges that after the acguistti
Dimensions, IQVIA AG essentially became Medlmpact’s JV partner and constantly
reached out to Medimpact to manage the JV through numerous calls and emails.
No. 93, FACY149-54, 91.) IQVIA AG also reached out to MedIimpact to leveiRB®I
data in connection with the Disease Management Programs which it ultimateddec
against. (Id. 192.) IQVIAG further aimed its conduct to California when it gained
access to MedImpact’s San Diego developed trade secrets and processed pharmace
data and ultimately fulfilled its scheme when Sadana of IQVIA AG contracted with
Oman Insurance to offer AIMS as a replacement of MIA’s PBM. (Id. § 93.) IQVA AG

coerced Dimensions to terminate the JV with Medimpact through a letter andem
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MedIimpact. (Id.) After the termination, IQVIA AG executives were involved in
numerous phone calls, meetings and board meetings with MedImpact exeantives
when asked about the renewal status of tHe [Afgest customer, Sadana intentionally
withheld information that IQVIA AG had already signed an agreement witarfOm
Insurance using MedImpact’s trade secrets. (Id. 194.)

As with IQVIA Ltd., the Court concludes that thexpressly aimingfactor is
easily met with IQVIA AG as it was involved in even more conduct diredt€alkifornia
than IQVIA Ltd.

3. Expressly Aiming asto IQVIA Inc.

Defendants next assert that the claim that IQVIA Defendants obtande@sold
claims data in California is not only false but should be barragsoge preclusion
because the Tribunal in the Dubai arbitration ruled that claim wasutitnerit.
Plaintiffs challenge Defendants argument contending that IQVIA Inmffiass and
employees in California angxpressly aimed its conduct at the forum by selling and
continuing to sell pharmaceutical data processed by Medimpact on San Dieggs &&rn
pharmaceutical companies in California. FAC § 104”. (Dkt. No. 110 at 22.) Plaintiffs
further dispute the issue prelusion argument as not only flawed but alsoyreenéd.
at 29-30.)

First, the parties present disputed issues of fact as to how tims dlaia was sent
between MedImpact and Dimensions. (See Dkt. No. 110-1, Brown TP with
Dkt. No.11816, Ghosheh Decl. 11 5-8. (UNDER SEALWMoreover, based on the
summary briefing, it is not clear whether issue preclusion apgdhelgght of the disputed
facts, the Court resolves the contested facts in favor of the non-muasitygon a Rule
12(b)(2) motion. Accadingly, the Court concludes that thexpressly aimingfactor hag
been met as to IQVIA Inc.

4, Expressly Aiming asto Dr. Omar Ghosheh

Defendants argue that the expressly aiming arguments as to DheBGlars stale
and do not cure the jurisdictional flaw the Court identified in its mider. (Dkt. No.
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106-1 at 25-26.)Plaintiffs respond that Dr. Ghosheh communicated with Medimpac
years by phone and email and accessed MedAccess on San Diego servers to acq
MedImpact’s trade secrets, (FAC 1185-86). (Dkt. No. 110 at 22.) Dr. Ghosheh also
aimed his conduct at the forum by sending dishonest mail and emails to the forum
including the consent and termination letters that were directed to Madinm San
Diego. (Id.)

In its prior order, the Court found that Plaintiffs did not prowsgdecific facts and

failed to link Dr. Ghosheh'’s suit-related conduct with the forum. (Dkt. No. 91 at 22-24.

However, the FAC now alleges specific facts to support suit-related cdndDct
Ghosheh directed at the forum. For ten years, through Dr. Ghosheh and Metdimps
long-standing business relationship through the JV and Dr. Gliveshi as director of
the JV, Dr. Ghosheh learned valliinformation about MedImpact’s trade secrets
through numerous communications with MedImpact’s employees in San Diego. (DKt.
No. 93, FACY185-86.) The FAC alleges that Dr. Ghosheh’s improper conduct began in
late 2015 when he reached out to Medimpadiscuss IMS Health’s proposed
acquisition of Dimensions. (Id.  88.) In January 2016, he signedsarddatter
purporting to hide the true reasons to acquire Dimensions, which ata® &rown for
his signature. (Id. ¥ 88.) On July 23, 2017, Dr. Ghosheh reached outitopdetip
fraudulently terminate the JV as he intended to allow IQVIA Defendants to
misappropriate MedImpact’s trade secrets and sell its pharmaceutical claims data. (Id. 1
89, 90.) On September 12, 2017, during a board meeting, Dr. Ghosheh misprésair
the IQVIA Defendants were not going to offer PBM services in the territory, but dur
discussion of the renewal status of Oman Insurance, Dr. Ghosheh omitted that fact
Dimensions and IQVIA AG had already signed an agreement with Oman Insuranc
AIMS to replace the PBM. (Id. 1 90.) Finally, when MedImpact asked Dr. Ghoshe
about providing technical information about AIMS, he refused. (Id.)

The Court finds that these facts present a prima facie showing thalhashéh
expressly aimed his conduct at the forum as these communications relatelsortis of
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breach of fiduciarygluty as well as it relates to the claims for misappropriation of trag
secrets, inducing breach of contract, intentional interference with praspectnomic

advantage and intentional interference with contractual relatianSei@ ScaleMP, Inc.
TidalScale, Ing.Case No. 1&v-04716EDL, 2019 WL 7877939, at *12-13 (N.D. Cal.

Mar. 6, 2019) (expressly airimg” factor satisfied even though original acquisition of

information obtained during a telephonic call was not a wrdragfy since it qualified as

the crucial contact with the forum because it was the moment when theat@fen
acquired the information that was later allegedly misappropriated).

5. Expressly Aiming asto Amit Sadana

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs repeat jurisdictional allegaticaiastgSadana
that have been rejected ardtlan allegation that Sadana attended JV board meeting
does not support jurisdiction because he attended them from the UKE.N@ 106-1 a
26-27.) Plaintiffs oppose arguing that Sadana expressly aimed his conduciatithe f
when he communicated with MedIimpact in California under false pretenseste thex
acquisition of Dimensions, and continuously contacted California bgggfemail, and
telephonic board meetings in his position as Chairman of the £dntacts where he
learned information about the JV and hid the ongoing scheme. NDkiL.10 at 23.)

The FAC claims that Sadana had a four-year relationship with MedImpact ar
beginning in late 2015, he was involved in procuring the acquisifi®imensions.
Then in April 2016, he was appointed Chairman of the JV and since theedras
consistent engaged with California through conferences calls to atterwhd¥/rheetings
to engage in numerous board calls with board members sitting in San Diego, and
numerous emails to board members in San Diego in his role as Chairman. D3, N
FAC 196.) During these communications, the JV’s business and finance were discussed
and through these communications, he learned valuable informatiorolesesttite the
scheme. (Id.) He was involved in termination of the JV incluchiagjng numerous
phone calls and attending several meetings and board meetings oanttezn
termination. (ld.) Atthe September 12, 2017 board meeting in Londomé&tlad to
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inform Medlmpact that he had already signed an agreement with Oman Insurance
AIMS which was developed using MedImpact’s trade secrets. (Id.  97.) Later, in late
September/October 2017, Sadana explained that AIMS was a “dumb platform” with no
software that Oman Insurance could set-up and customize on its own system and
distinct from PBM. (Id.) All these communications were conducted in cod=mariceal
the scheme to misappropriate MedImpact’s trade secrets and conceal the true intention
behind acquiring Dimensions. (ld.)

While most of the communications occurred while he was in the UAE, such
contacts have been found sufficient to satisfy #gressly aimingfactorsolong as the
communications formed the basis of the causes of action against Defenden@Gisc®
2015 WL 5138559, at *5. These néaets sufficiently link Sadana’s conduct with the
claims in this case, and Plaintiffs have set out a prima facie showing taataSa
expressing aimed conduct towards California.

D. Exerciseof Jurisdiction Must be Reasonable

Defendants further argue that if the Court were to find that there wasasei
conduct purposely directed towards California, the Court shoulthdedol exercise
jurisdiction because it would be unreasonable. Plaintiffs oppose.

On the third prong for purposeful direction, the burden shifi3fondants “to
‘present a compelling case’ that the exercise of jurisdiction would not be reasonable.”
Schwarzenegger, 374 F.at802 The Court looks to seven factors to determine whe
exercising personal jurisdiction over Defendants is reasondbley are:

(1) the extent of the defendants' purposeful interjection into the forum state's
affairs; (2) the burden on the defendant of defending in the forum; (3) the
extent of conflict with the sovereignty of the defendants' state; (4) tivan for
state's interest in adjudicating the dispute; (5) the most eifigidicial

resolution of the controversy; (6) the importance of the forum to the
plaintiff's interest in convenient and effective relief; and (7) the exastef

an alternative forum.
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Menken v. Emm, 503 F.3d 1050, 1058 (9th Cir. 2007) (quoting CEilRisLLC v. New
Sensor Corp., 380 F.3d 1107, 1112 (9th Cir. 200@gfendants, as foreign defendant
bear a heavy burden to proa&’compelling caseof unreasonableness to defeat
jurisdiction” Dole Food Cq 303 F.3d at 1117 (indicating there is strong presumpti
of reasonableness).

First, the Court concludes that because Defendants have purposeadtgditheir
activities in this forum causing injury here, they have injected thees@ito this
forum. See Advanced Skin & Hair, Inc. v. Bancr&b8 F.Supp.2d 1084, 1091 (C.D.
Cal. 2012)“Because Defendant purposefully availed herself on Californithe Court
finds that Defendant purposefully interjected herself in California, supgatfinding
of reasonablenes$$ (citing Amoco Egypt Oil Co. v. Leonis Nav. Co., Inc., 1 F.3d 848
852 (9th Cir. 1993)this factor “parallels the question of minimum contacts” in
determining the reasonableness of exercising specific jurisdiciind)Roth v. Garcia
Marquez, 942 F.2d 617, 623 (9th QiP91) (“In light of the first prong of purposeful
availment, analysis of this first factor in the third proenguld be redundant”)).

Second, according to Defendants, their burden would be substantialforr@ali
where four defendants are non-U.S. defendants ardkiaghe UAE, the UK or
Switzerland which is also the location of the relevant documents iamelsges. To hav
those witnesses travel across the world would be expensive anyl diggibptive to their
ongoing business activities. Plaintiffs respond that the modern @el/an
communications and transportation have reduced the burden of litigaangther
country. Moreover, IQVIA entities are part of a billion-dollar global conglomerate 3
have the resources to litigate in Californigw]ith the advances in transportation and
telecommunications and the increasing interstate practice of law, any burden is
substantially less than in days past.” CE Distrib., 380 F.3d at 111Despite
technological advances, this factor nonetheless will always favor the defen&aset
Dole FoodCo., 303 F.3ét 1117 (by their very nature, the factors of burdan
defendants and sovereignty conflict are likely to favor foreign defendants awery ti
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personal jurisdiction in the United States is consider@figrefore, this factor slightly
favors Defendants.

Third, Defendants argue that haling them, except sham Defendéi#, I{pc.,
into California would conflict with important sovereign interestsimarily stating that
“foreign nation presents a higher sovereignty barrier than another statethattinited
States citing FDIC v. British-American Ins. Co., Ltd. 828 F.2d 1439, 1444 Qir.
1987). By itself, Defendants’ summary proposition does not explain which sovereignty
has a conflict with jurisdiction in this Court. In fact, as Defendadtsit, four
Defendants reside in the UAE, the UK and/or Switzerland andhidnesfailed to
demonstrate how these separate sovereignties have a conflict withciimmsah
California. This factor favors Plaintiffs.

Fourth, Defendants claim the issue of whether California has a significant int
in the litigation is neutral because there has been no purposefulyaditigitted to

California. Plaintiffs contend that California hastrong interest in litigation that

involves residents who are tortiously injured by ofistate defendantsThe Court sides

with Plaintiffs as Defendants have purposefully directed their activitithgsifiorum
knowing they would cause injury to Plaintiffs; therefore, California hastarest in
adjudicating this case. See Sinatra v. National Enquirer, b¥.F2d 1191, 1200 (9th
Cir. 1988) (“California maintains a strong interest in providing an effective means of
redress for its residents [who are] tortiously injured”). This factor supports Plaintiffs.
Fifth, Defendants claim that it would be inefficient to try this caseaiif@nia as
none of their witnesses or documents are in California. In response,fRBlamgue that
their relevant operations are in San Diego as well as the intellectualfyrapissue ang
the pharmaceutical data processed by Medimpact that is allegedly being KQMIAy
Defendants to companies in California. Moreover, any witnesses can beddep@se
virtual platform and electronic access to documents reduces the inefficiencysaigbh)
documents and in person depositions. The Court agreegithabday’s modern

technological advances, and also in light of COVID-19, where parties handdreed
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to litigate in a remote, virtual manner, it would not be inefficieritigate the case in
California Thus, this factor is neutral.

Sixth, Defendants claim that Plaintiffs’ choice of forum is of little importance to
the reasonableness inquiry and they have already demonstrated a w#litogiiegate
the same subject matter in Dubai as demonstrated by the arbitration. In contrast,
Plaintiffs claim that they have a significant interest in protecting theitentahl
property in California. Moreover, the proceeding in Dubai was an arbitrairsngnt to
an arbitration agreement, not litigation and the proceeding was egaiifferent
defendant. While a plaintiff's convenience is not of paramount ismpoet Dole Food
Co., 303 F.3d at 1106, it is a listEdtor and cannot be disregarded. Accordingly, th
factor slightly favors Plaintiffs.

Severth, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have not met their burden to demon
an alternative forum does not exist and they cannot because aataleeforum exists
in the courts of Dubai. (Dkt. No. 106-1 at 30.) Plaintiffs contiyatl Dubai is not an
adequate alternative forum because Dubai cannot adjudicate U.S. law claims and
because Defendants are residents in the UAE, the UK and Switzerland arat itlésa
whether Dubai would have jurisdiction over all Defendants. On the finakfdbe
“plaintiff bears the burden of proving the unavailability of an alternative forum.” Core-
Vent Corp. v. Nobel Indust. AB, 11 F.3d 1482, 1490 (9th Cir. 1B&)man v.
DaimlerChrysler Corp. 644 F.3d 909 (9th Cir. 2011) (citatioittech (“The plaintiff
‘bears the burden of proving the unavailability of an alternative forum,” although as
mentioned earlier, the overall burden with respect to reasonablenesgHiésewi
defendants.”). Here, this factor supports Defendants as Plaintiffs makes summary
arguments about the lack of an alternative forum without demonstratinpeira
“claims cannot be effectively remedied” in Dubai. See Core-Vent, 11 F.3d at 1490
(noting that, to meet its burden of proving the unavailability of aradtive forum, a

plaintiff must show that its “claims cannot be effectively remedied there.”).
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Considering all the factors in light of the Defendaburden of presenting
“compelling case.” the Court concludes that the exercise of jurisdiction over Defeng
in California is reasonable.

Accordingly, under the purposeful direction analysis, the Court condiuidas
specific personal jurisdiction over all Defendants and thet@@ENIES Deéndants’
motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction.

E. Legal Standard asto Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“Rule”) 12(b)(6) permits dismissal for “failure to
state a claim upon which relief can bemged.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Dismissal
under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate where the complaint lacks a cognizabléh ksl or
sufficient facts to support a cognizable legal theory. See Balistreeaaifica Police

Dep’t., 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
8(a)(2), the plaintiff is required only to set forth a “short and plain statement of the claim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief,” and “give the defendant fair notice of what
the . .. claimd and the grounds upon which it rests.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly,
550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).

A complaint may survive a motion to dismiss only if, taking all well-qésh
factual allegations as true, it contains enough facts to “state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Twombly
550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defetidate
for the misconduct alleged.” Id. “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of
action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.” Id. “In sum, for a
complaint to survive a motion to dismiss, the non-conclusorydactntent, and
reasonable inferences from that content, must be plausibly suggestive of a dléimg e
the plaintiff to relief.” Moss v. U.S. Secret Serv., 572 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009)

(quotations omitted). In reviewing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the Court acesptue all
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facts alleged in the complaint, and draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the
plaintiff. al-Kidd v. Ashcroft, 580 F.3d 949, 956 (9th Cir. 2009).
F. Defend Trade Secrets Act
1. Defendants IQVIA Ltd., IQVIA AG, Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana
Defendants move to dismiss the DTSA claim against IQVIA Ltd., IQVIA AG,
Ghosheh and Sadabecause they did not commit a domestic act in furtherance of t
alleged trade secret misappropriation because the misappropoietiomed outside the
United States years after Plaintiffs voluntarily disclosed their trade secreta¢nogions,
(Dkt. No. 107-1 at 14-7.) Plaintiffs respond that the DTSA applies to extraterritorial
conduct by IQVIA Ltd, IQVIA AG, Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana and they committedha
furtherance of the offense in the United Stai{@kt. No. 111 at 11-15.)

The DTSA applies to the acquisition, disclosure and use of trade secreis8 See

U.S.C. 88 1839(5)(A) & (BY° Under the DTSAa plaintiff must allege that: (1) the
plaintiff owned a trade secret; (2) the defendant misappropriated thedrade and (3)
the defendant’s actions damaged the plaintiff.” Alta Devices, Inc. v. LG Elecs, Inc., 343
F. Supp. 3d 868, 877 (N.D. Cal. 2018) (citations omitted). A trade secret
misappropriation claim can be brought under the DTSA “if the trade secret is related to a
product or service used in, oténded for use in, interstate or foreign commerce.” 18
U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1). The DTSA also applies to conduct occurring outside tleel Unit
States if (1) “the offender is a . . . organization organized under the laws of the United
States or a State” or (2) “an act in furtherance of the offense was committed in the United
States.” 18 U.S.C. § 1837(1-2).

“[A]n act in furtherance of the offerises not defined under the DTSA and distri

courts look to the common law as it is regularly used in federal conspiracy |amnaltu

10 The DTSA defines “misappropriation” as (a) “acquisition of a trade secret” by a person who knows or
should know the secret was improperly acquired or (b) “disclosure or use of a trade secret of another
without express or implied consent .”2 18 U.S.C. § 1839(5)(A) & (B).
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Networks Ltd. v. BIScience IncCIVIL ACTION NO. 2:18CV-00483-JRG, 2019 WL
2084426, at *9E.D. Tex. May 13, 2019) (“Court looks to the established common law
meaning of “in furtherance of” when interpreting the extraterritoriality provision of the
DTSA.”); Motorola Solutions, Inc. v. Hytera Comrn Corp. Ltd., 436 F. Supp. 3d 1150
11165 (N.D. Ill. 2020) (relying on Luminati analysis). Relying¥artes v. United States
354 U.S. 298, 334 (1957), the district court, in Luminadpl&ined that “Yates makes

clear that the act in furtherance of the offense of trade secret misappropriatiorohee

be the offense itself or any element of the offense, but it rmastifest that the [offense

]

Is at work and is not simplya project in the minds of theffenders or afully
completed operatioh.Put another way, an act that occurs before the operation is
underway or after it is fully completed is not an @ctfurtherance dfthe offensé’
Luminati, 2019 WL 2084426 at *10.

Defendants narrowly focus their argument on the act of misapgtiopr;
however, an “act in furtherance of the offense” includes misappropriated conduct that is
“at work.” See id However, the FAC allegeéscts in furtherance of the offes# of
trade secret misappropriation that began Wifendants’ communications with
Medlmpact located in Californialhese acts include (1) Dr. Ghosheh commumgati
with MedImpact employees to learn about MedImpact’s trade secrets; (2) Dr. Ghosheh
accessing MedAccess which is hosted on San Diego servers from May 1un#0i6Ge
JV’s termination in July 2017; (3) following the JV termination, Dr. Ghosheh, Sadana,
IQVIA Ltd. and IQVIA AG continuing to communi¢awith Medlmpact in California
through numerous phone calls, virtual meetings and board meeiihgsitvdisclosing
the real reasons for the termination; (4) Dr. Ghosheh sending the JulylZ3efér to
MedIimpact in San Diego terminating the JV without revealing the true redSpns;
Ghosheh’s call to Mr. Roberts, a board member of MI-HK, and Brown, misrepresenting
AIMS’ capabilities and when asked if they could be provided with technical information
or inspect AIMS, and (6) Dr. Ghosheh refusing an inspection and attentpthide the
fact that he used Plaintiffs’ trade secrets. (Dkt. No. 93, FACT{33, 175(a)-(c).) Further
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in June, July and August 2016,V@A AG’s predecessor and Sadana allegedly reached
out to MedIimpact to discuss JV business during which they learneablainformation.
(Id. 1 91.) It was during these communications that the trade secreprofsagtion was
“at work” by keeping MedImpact in the dark while Defendants executed their trade secret
misappropriation.These allegations are sufficient to draw a reasonable inference th
acts in furtherance of the misappropriation, whether by acquisitiony assctosure,
were committed in the United States. Defendants relianéeonint’l, Inc. v Lucca,

No. 8:19¢cv978-T-23AAS, 2019 WL 5578880 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 29, 204 Bjapposite as
there the court found there were no facts alleged connetiindefendant’s attendance
at the trade show with the alleged misappropriation of the plaintiftle secrets.

Accordingly, the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss the DTSA as to
Defendants IQVIA Ltd., IQVIA AG, Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana.

2. Defendant IQVIA, Inc.

Defendants argue that the allegations ag&aestndant IQVIA, Inc. fail to asseat
misappropriation act to support a DTSA claim because selling Plaintiffs’ confidential
claims data is not a trade secret. (Dkt. No. 107-1 at 1dn}rdfy to Defendants’
argument, Plaintiffs maintain that the FAC pleads allegations of nigapgtion against
IQVIA Inc. (Dkt. No. 111 at 16-17.)

While Defendants point to paragraphs in the FAC that alleges that IQVIAvasc
responsible for misappropriating claims data and reselling them, the FAD@lstes
allegations that IQVIA Inc. was also involved in the misappropriation of Plaintiffs’ trade
secrets concerning the PBM platform. (See Dkt. No. 93, FAC 1 66, 16Q/5%§3-
Accordingly, the Court DENIE®efendants” motion to dismiss the DTSA claim as to
Defendant IQVIA, Inc.

G. CUTSA Preemption
Defendants argue that claimg 2re preempted by CUTSA because they are b

on the same nucleus of facts as the misappropriation of trade secrets claintgfsPlai
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disagree and contend that claims 2-7 do not rely on the same nucleus of faets as t
misappropriation of trade secrets.

CUTSA was enacted with the Califosis legislative intent to occupy the entire
field of misappropriation of trade secretsit has “comprehensive structure and breadth.”
K.C. Multimedia, Inc. v. Bank of America Tech. & Operations, Inc., 171 Cal. Afhp
939, 954-956, 957 (2009). Misappropriation means improper acqujseti non-
consensual disclosure or use of another's trade secret. Cal. Civ. 842l §b). Due
to the broad scope of CUTSA preempts any common law claim that derives from tk
same nucleus of facts as trade secret misappropridfi@h.Multimedia, Inc., 171 Cal.
App. 4th. at 954, 962; see also Cal. Civ. Code § 3428ection 3426.7(b) provides for
three exemptions from the scope of preemption and incl{#lecontractual remedies,
whether or not based upon misappropriation of a trade secret, (2) other civil remad
are not based upon misappropriation of a trade secret, or (3) criminal remedie€al.
Civ. Code § 3426.7(b). In this case, the parties dispute whether claimss® from the
“same nucleus of facts as trade secret misappropriation.” K.C. Multimedia, Inc.171 Cal.
App. 4that 962

“The preemption inquiry for those causes of action not specifically exempted by §
3426.7(b) focuses on whether other claims are no more than a restateme rsaofid¢h

operative facts supporting trade secret misappropriation. If there is no mdistnnadtion

between the wrongdoing alleged in a CUTSA claim and that alleged in a diffieiemt ¢
the CUTSA preempts the other claim.” Convolve, Inc. v. Compaqg Comp. Corp., No. 0D

CV 5141(GBD), 2006 WL 839022, at *6 (S.D.N.Mar. 31, 2006) (applying California
law); see also PQ Labs, Inc. v. Yang Qi, No. €150, 2012 WL 2061527, at *5 (N.D.
Cal. June 7, 2012) (same). To survive preemption;lths must “allege wrongdoing
that is materially distinct from the wrongdoing alleged in a CUTSA claim.” SunPower
Corp. v. SolarCity Corp., No. 1€V-00694-LHK, 2012 WL 6160472, at *9 (N.D. Cal.
Dec. 11, 2012)For example, if an interference with prospective economic advantag
claim is based on the same nucleus of facts as a CUTSA trade secret misappropri
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claim, then the claim is preempted by CUTSXis Imex, Inc. v. Sunset Bay Rattan,
Inc., No. C 08-3931 RS, 2009 WL 55178, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2009) (CUTSA
preemption applies when, after the facts relating to trade secrets are removedethe

not enough facts for the claim to surjivel “determination of whether a claim is base

on trade secret misappropriation is largely factu&l.C. Multimedia, Inc., 171 Cal. App.

4that 954. Moreover, CUTSA preemption is interpreted broadlyat 957 (rejecting
appellant’s narrow interpretation of CUTSA preemption), and the court focuses Gthe
actual gravamen of [the] complajid. at 959.

In this case, the CUTSA claim is based on allegations that beginning istat lea
mid-2017 until now, IQVIA along with Dimensions, Dr. Ghosheh &adana
misappropriated MedImpact’s confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets
and utilized them to enter the PBM market internationally. (Dkt. No. 93, ¥2&D.)
The CUTSA claim alleges wroffig misappropriation of “MedImpact’s Trade Secrets,
confidential customer and competitive information” as well as “trade secrets, know-how,
confidential and proprietary technical information and know-how and customer
information.” (Id. 1 198, 199.) IQVIA knew or should have known that the trade
secrets improperly disclosed to them by Dimensions, Dr. Ghosheh and Mr. Sadani
taken from and belonged to Medimpact, that IQVIA encouraged Dimensions tadd
accepted such information and solicited them for information whahkhew came
from Medlmpact. (Id. 1 195.) Medimpact lost significant revenue from 2016 onwa
and those revenues have continued to decline because of Defendants’ misappropriation of
trade secrets. (Id. §192.)

1. Second Cause of Action — Inducing Breach of Contract asto IQVIA;

and Fifth Cause of Action — I ntentional Interference with Contractual
Relationship asto IQVIA

To prevail under either a claim for inducing breach of contract and intentional

interference with contractual relations, a plaintiff must plead: (1) d eahtract betwee
the plaintiff and a third party; (2) the defendant’s knowledge of this contract; (3)
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intentional acts designed to induce a breach or disruption of titkactual relationship;
(4) actual breach or disruption of the relationship; and (5) resulting @éarRag. Gas &
Elec. Co. v. Bear Stearns & Co., 50 Cal. 3d 1118, 1126 (19680)lso Epitech, Inc. v.
Cooper Wiring Devices, IncCase No.: 3:115V-1693 JM (WVG) 2013 WL 12095586,
*2 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 20, 2013) (inducing breach of contract and intentioteaference
with contractual relations involve similar showings)

In KC Multimedia, the court concluded that the tortious interferente wi
contractual relations was preempted where the appellant claimedetizqupbliees
“engaged in intentional acts designed to induce a breach or disruption of plaintiff's
contractual relationship” with appellant’s former employeeby “helping” and
“encouraging” him “to misappropriate trade secrets and then by luring the former
employee to become an employee of the appellee. Id. at 960-61. Aphetlaer
alleged that its “contractual relationship with [the former employee] was disrupted and
breached because [the former employee] misappropriatéchde secrets and accepte
employment with [the appelle€s]id. at 961.

In Western Air Charter, the district court held that the inteatiorterference with
contractual relations was preempted because without the misapproiatiate secret
there would be no claim. Western Air Charter, Inc. v. SchemBase No.: CV 17-
00420-AB (KSx), 2017 WL 10638759, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 6, 2017). Whiletfai
alluded to other allegations to support its claim, the court noted that the “intentional act”
designed to induce breach of contract necessary to support a claim foonakenti
interference with contractual relations was the affirmative act misapproprdticade
secrets, not the defendant’s acts of setting up a competing businelss Therefore,
without the trade secret misappropriation facts, the plaintiff could not establish “the third
element of a claim for intentional interference with contractual relatidds.

Here, Plaintiffs have attempted to carefully draft the FAC to avoid CUTSA
preemption by avoiding using the wortteade secret misappropriatidaor facts relating
to that claim. However, a careful reviewf the allegations to support both claims reve
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that they rely on the same nucleus of facts as the trade secret misapprophiatio
inducing breach of contract, the FAC alleges that IQVIA intentionally induced
Dimensions to breach its obligatiomsder the JV Agreement, the SLC and NDA “in
order to steal MIA’s existing clients and provide pharmaceutical data to IQVIA for sale

to pharmaceutical companies.” (Dkt. No. 93, FAC §116.) The facts underlying the

“intentional act of inducing breach or interference rely on Defendants developing and

using AIMS, a competin@BM product which was developed using Plaintiffs’ PBM
trade secrets. As alleged, once AIMS was created and a contract with Oman Insu
was executed, IQVIA Defendants induced Dimensions to terminate the 3¢ and
compete against Plaintiffs in the international market. Additionthieyjnducing breach
of contract claim alleges the intentional act of unlawfully obtgipharmaceutical data
and selling them to pharmaceutical companies in Califor(id.) While the parties do
not address whether CUTSA preemption applies to confidential informatselaw
appears to support this propositiaSee Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Entm't, Inc., 782 F. Supp
2d 911, 987 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (“UTSA supersedes claims based on the misappropriation
of confidential information, whether or not that information meetsstatutory definition
of a trade secret”); SunPower2012 WL 6160472, at *5 (“If the basis of the alleged
property right is in essence that the information is that it is ‘not . . . generally known to
the public,’ then the claim is sufficiently close to a trade secret claim that it should be
superseded notwithstanding the fact that the information fail®&d the definition of a
trade secret.”); but see Amron Intern. Diving Supply, Inc. v. Hydrolinx Divingr@nt ',
Inc., No. 11:CV-1890, 2011 WL 5025178, at *10 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (common law ca
of action were not preempted because they were basedf@nardifallegations” than the
plaintiff's trade secrets claim). In litigating this claim, the facts sujpgpothe
misappropriation of trade secrets will necessarily be used to demerisatiaim of
inducing breach of contract.

Similarly, on the claim for intentional interference with a contractualioglstip,

the FAC alleges thdQVIA engaged in a “pattern of conduct” of coercing Dimensiont
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terminate the JV Agreement with the aid of Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana whichaktima
led to the termination of the JV on July 23, 2017. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC 1 141 helFuas
to damages, Plaintiffs claim that it lost millions of dollars in contrddteaefits
including its relationship with Oman Insurance and other actual aedt@dtcustomers.
(Id. 1143.) While the FAC is purposefullgevoid of any factso support the “pattern of
conduct” leading to the termination of the JV, the allegations concerning damages rev
that the “pattern of conduct” relates to the misappropriation of trade secrets. The loss of
Oman Insurance was due to IQVIA offering its competing AIMS product using
Plaintiffs’ trade secrets. The interference was only possible by IQ¥4Aevelopment
and use of AIMS that precipitated the termination of the JM@ahde Plaintiffs’ clients
to contract with IQVIA Therefore, this claim shares the same nucleus of facts with
claim for misappropriation of trade secreidie FAC lacks any other factual basis for
inducement of a breach or interferenaéh the JV Agreement by IQVIA and without t
alleged trade secret misappropriation, there would be no suoh ckse Western Air
Charter, Inc., 2017 WL 10638759, at *3 (without the trade secret migagiron facts,
the plaintiff could not establish “the third element of a claim for intentional interference
with contractual relations.”). Plaintiffs do not point to other facts, apart from
misappropriating trade secrets, that waulpport the intentional acts or “pattern of
conduct” to support these causes of action. See id. (although not persuasive the plaint
alleged their intentional interference of contract was based onaadiéllegations
besides misappropriation of trade secret). Therefore, the Court contlatieslticing

breach of contract and intentional interference with contractual relaipossh

preempted by CUTSAs they are “based on the same nucleus of facts as trade secre

misappropriatiory. SeeK.C. Multimedia, Inc., 171 Cal. App. 48t 958, 962 (holding
that claims for breach of confidence, interference with contract, and unfair coompeti
were all preempted by CUTSAYhe Court GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss the
second and fifth causes of action.

111/
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2. Third Cause of Action — I ntentional I nterference with Prospective
Economic Relationsasto |QVIA; Fourth Cause of Action — Negligent I nterference
with Prospective Economic Relationsasto IQVIA

Defendants move to dismiss the third and fourth causes of actiongatiyairinese
claims are premised on facts that support a misappropriation of trade faoretrd the
necessary element to allege an independent wrongful conduct is thenosagion of
trade secrets. (Dkt. No. 107-1 at 19-20.) Plaintiffs argue that they heyedaan
independent unlawful conduct distinct from trade secret misappropriatich imclude
breach of fiduciary duty and conspiracy. (Dkt. No. 111 at 19-20.)

Under California law, an intentional interference with prospective economic
relationshipclaim requires a party to show “(1) an economic relationship between the

plaintiff and some third party, with the probability of future economic hetwethe

plaintiff; (2) the defendant's knowledge of the relationship; (3) titteal acts on the par

of the defendant designed to disrupt the relationship; (4) actuaptesr of the
relationship; and (5) economic harm to the plaintiff proximately caused by thef fues
defendant.” CRST Van Expedited, Inc. v. Werner Enters., Inc. 479 F.3d 1098, (91h
Cir. 2007) (citing Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Co2p.Cal. 4th 1134, 1153
(2003)). A plaintiff alleging interference with a prospective relationshasis required
“to allege an act that is wrongful independent of the interference itself.” Id. “[A]n act is
independently wrongful if it is unlawful, that is, if it is proscribedsoyne constitutional
statutory, regulatory, common law, or other determinable legal standard.” Korea Supply
29 Cal. 4th at 1159.

On this claim, the FAC alleges that IQVIA Defendants, using its influence as
parent companies of Dimensions, wrongfully terminated an ongosigdss
relationship, the JV Agreement, on July 23, 2017, between MI-HK and Dionspand
diverted its economic benefit to IQVIA. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC { 122.) On infolonadnd
belief, the FAC avers that IQVIA solicited and encouraged MIA board members to
breach the terms of the JV Agreement, the NDA and the SLC. (Id.) The FAC furth
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alleges that IQVIA interfered with MedImpact’s relationship with existing and potential
customers, including Oman Insurance. (Id. § 123.) IQVIA successfully lured Oma
Insurance in September 2017 to Dimensions’ competing AIMS platform. (Id. § 125.)
Additionally, other MIA customers terminated their relationships witmefes or
altered their relationships by decreasing pricing. (Id.) The FAC provides detaile
allegations as to Defendants’ scheme with Dimensions to steal the JV’s clients and
terminate the JV by offering AIM%o replace Plaintiffs’ PBM. (Id. 19 57, 58, 59.)
Plaintiffs claim that the termination letter sent by Dr. Ghosheh did aiat ste true
reasons for the termination which was “to allow the IQVIA Defendants to use
MedImpacts proprietary data and to use MedImpact’s trade secrets and customer lists to
compete in the PBM market.” (Id.  60.) Here, wheredlgravamen of the wrongful
conduct” is the misappropriation of a trade secret, CUTSA preemption applies. See K.C.
Multimedia, Inc., 171 Cal. App. 4th at 961

In response to Defendants’ argument that the only independent unlawful conduct is
the misappropriation of trade secret and confidential information,tifamaintain that
the third and fourth claims are also based on the unlawful acts chlo&aduciary duty
and conspiracy. However, conspiracy is not a cause of action but requiresedying
wrongful act Applied Equip. Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd., 7 Cal. 4th 5831

(1994)(acivil conspiracy is activated by the commission of an underlying wromgt))

which Plaintiffs do not identify or explainn addition, the breach of fiduciary duty only

applies to Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana, (Dkt. No. 93, FAC {12080t IQVIA
Defendand. Because this claim is alleged against IQVIA Defendants, Plaintiffs’
argument fails.

The intentional interference with prospective economic advantagesaliwg
separate interferences. First, IQVIA Defendants, as parent companies, influenced
Dimensions to terminate the JV Agreement between MI-HK and Dimensionsgausi
disruption of the relationship and diversion of its economic banefidkt. No. 93, FAC
1 122.) Second, IQVIA Defendants interfered with Plaisitéiconomic relationship wit
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existing and potential customers, including its largest customer, Oman Insurahée.
123.)

Similar to the facts to support the second and fifth counts, the nuélacssoto
supportiQVIA’s interference with the JV is based on the same nucleus of facts as trade
secret misappropriation amlpreempted. As to the second interference concerning
disrupting the relationshipsith Plaintiffs’ clients, the Court similarly concludes thateth
facts to support this claim is also intertwined with the trade secret migaigpicn
claim. The FAC points to the loss of Oman Insurancecastamer as it was “lured by
Dimensions’ AIMS platform” and loss of existing and potential customers or altered
relationships with current customers due to decreased pricing. (Id. P%225s fact,
the FAC specifically alleges “solicitation of Oman Insurance by Dimensions and IQVIA
was based upon MedImpact’s Trade Secrets and know-how, including, the technology
itself, pricing structure and preferences.” (Id. § 78.) Similarly, the harm suffered unde
CUTSA also consists of revenue due to the loss of customers and potential custon
contacts. (ld. Y 196.) Moreover, the only way De@atglwere able to interfere with
Plaintiffs’ customer relationships was through the misappropriation of trade seciste
Rovince Int'l Corp. v. Preston, No. CV-43%27 CAS (PJWx%)2013 WL 5539430, *5
(C.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 2013) (intentional inference with prospective businessmslaps
claim displaced where the only wrongful conduct alleged by the FAC was
misappropriation of trade secrets).

In addition, on the fourth claim for negligent interference with prospect
economic relations, Defendants argue because of the alkdertGpecial relationship”
between any IQVIA entity and Plaintiffs giving rise to a duty of care, the claim fails
(Dkt. No. 107-1 at 20.) Plaintiffs respond that they do not need to plead af aaine
and Defendants have been on clear notice of their claims for negligent interferdnce
prospective economic advantage. (Dkt. No. 111 at 22-23.)

Notwithstanding the issue of whether the FAC has sufficiently allegkedy of

care, the facts underlying the fourth claim for negligent interference withgutosp
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economic advantage claim that IQVIA Defendants interfered with JV Agreement
between MI-HK and Dimensions, andterfered with the relationships with Plaintiffs’
customers are the same as the third claim, and are necessarily pred®geeidkt. No.
93, FAC 11 132-34.Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss
the third and fourth claims

3. Unfair Competition asto IQVIA

California's Unfair Competition Law prohibits any “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent
business act or practice.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200:Each of these three
adjectives [unlawful, unfair or fraudulent] captures a separate and diktocy of
liability.” Rubio v. Capital One Bank, 613 F.3d 1195, 1203 (9th Cir. 201L@}t4tjon
marks omitted). The UCL's coverage is broad, sweeping and embracing afh@utly&h
can be properly called a business practice and at the same time forbidden Gglaw.
Tech Comma’ns, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co., 20 C&h 163, 180(1999).

Here, the FAC alleges a violation of the unlawful prong of the UCL. (Dkt. No|

FAC 111144-151.) Under the “unlawful” prong, the UCL incorporates other laws and
treats violations of those laws as unlawful business practicessindeptly actionable
under state law. Chabner v. United of Omaha Life Ins.Z25. F.3d 1042, 1048 (9th
Cir. 2000) (citing CefTech Comms., Inc., 20 Cal. 4th at 180). Violation of almost an
federal, state or local law may serve as the basis for an “unlawful” UCL claim. Saunders
v. Superior Ct., 27 Cal. App. 4th 832, 838(1994). “To state a cause of action based on
an unlawful business act or practice under the UCL, a plaintiff must allege faatgesil
to show a violation of some underlying law.” Prakashpalan v. Engstrom, Lipscomb al
Lack, 223 Cal. App. 4th 1105, 1188)14) (“unlawful practices are practices ‘forbidden
by law, be it civil or criminal, federal, state, or municipal, statutory, regulatory ot-co
made.””). A claim under the UCL is displaced when it “relies on the same facts as the
misappropriation claim.” K.C. Multimedia, 171 Cal. App. 4th at 96see also Digital
Envoy, Inc. v. Google, Inc., 370 F. Supp. 2d 1025, 1035 (N.D. Cal) Z00fair

competition and unjust enrichment claims were preempted)
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Here, the UCL claim is based on the underlying causes of action for inducing
breach of contract, intentional interference with prospective economanizdye,
negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, and intntiterference
with a contractual relationship, (Dkt. No. 93, FAC { 147), that the ®Gagrheld to be
preempted by CUTSA. Theretgthose “unlawful acts” are also necessarily preempted
by CUTSA. See K.C. Multimedjd.71 Cal. App. 4th at 961.

Additionally, Plaintiffs claim that IQVIA Defendants also committed actual an
constructive fraud pursuant to California Civil Code sections 1573 4bd deceit
pursuant to California Civil Code sections 1709, 1710. (Dkt. No. 93, FAMBY The
FAC alleges unlawful business acts or practices by “engaging in a scheme to acquire
Dimensions and terminate the joint venture in order to giegint venture’s customers
and to sell pharmaceutical data withdiddImpact’s permission.” (Id. § 147.) These
fraud claims ee also based on the same allegations to support the claims for trade §
misappropriation and are therefore preemptede@&t. No. 93, FAC 11 148(a)-(i).)
Therefore, the Court GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss the UCL cause of action.

4. Seventh Cause of Action — Conspiracy asto all Defendants

Defendants submit that the conspiracy claim is similarly intertwined fth t
alleged misappropriation of trade secret claim and theft of claims data. (DHiORD.
at 23.) Plaintiff argue that their conspiracy claim is based on Defendants’ collusion to
steal the JV customers which involved breaches of fiduciary duty andsdtiaecure
clients without MedImpact knowing.

Under California law, “[t]o state a cause of action for conspiracy, the complaint
must allege (1) the formation and operation of the conspiracy, (2) the wrongbuleats
done pursuanhereto, and (3) the damage resulting from such act or acts.” Cellular Plus
Inc. v. Superior Ct., 14 Cal. App. 4th 1224 1236 (1993)

On the conspiracy count, the FAC alleges all Defendants conspired and agre
among themselves to “acquire Dimensions, gain access to an immense repository of

pharmaceutical data, to develop and sell ICM and AIMS, compete against MIA’s and
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MHSI’s PBM platform, enter into the PBM market without Medlmpact, and sell the
pharmaceutical data obtained from MedImpact’s PBM.” (Dkt. No. 93, FAC  154.) Thi
conspiracy was furthered by inter gli@uilding a competing PBM platform in order to
steal customers from the MIA, and selling the pharmaceutical data obtainmed fro
MedImpact’s PBM.” (Id.  156.) These allegations support a claim for trade secret
misappropriation which underlies the wrongful conduct for the cossprount as to
IQVIA Defendantsand the Court GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss on the
conspiracy claim as to IQVIA Defendants.

However, Plaintiffs’ argument that the wrongful conduct involved breaches of
fiduciary duty concern only Defendants Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana, as they both ow
fiduciary duty to MedIimpact, as shareholder of MI@®kt. No. 111 at 21.) To the exte|
Defendants did not move to dismiss the breach of fiduciary claim based on CUTSA
preemption and there are facts alleged as to breach of fiduciary duty that coulolyla
form an independent basis for a claim based on taking actions adverse to this ioter
MIA, (Dkt. No. 93, FACYT1110-11),the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss

as to Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana on the conspiracy claim. See Ali v. FasteRetaifp

Inc., 544 F. Supp. 2d 1064, 1070 (E.D. Cal. 2q@&kre “facts can form an independent
nucleus for a breach of fiduciary duty claim . . ., a CUTSA preemption finding is
premature.”).

H. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

Next, Defendants submit that Plaintiffs, or more specificallyH¥l- as the
shareholder in MIA, lack standing to pursue a direct action, (Dkt. 0l611at 25), while
Plaintiffs claim that a direct shareholder action is profigkt. No. 111 at 23).

Corporate directors and officers owe a fiduciary duty to the corporationsand if

shareholders. Berg & Berg Enters., LLC v. Boylé8 Cal. App. 4th 1020, 1037 (2009).

Shareholders may bring eitht&rdirect action filed by the shareholder individually (or
behalf of a class of shareholders to which he or she belongs) for injusydoier
interest as a shareholdéor a “derivative action filed on behalf of the corporation for
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Injury to the corporation for which it has failed or refusedu®s Schuster v. Gardner
127 Cal. App. 4th 305, 311 (2005) (emphasis in original) (criatinitted).

“An action isderivative if ‘the gravamen of the complaint is injury to the
corporation, or to the whole body of its stock or property without any severance of
distribution among individual holders, or if it seeks to recovestager the corporation
or to prevent the dissipation of its assé&tdd. at 313.“An individual cause of action
exists only if damages to the shareholders were not incidental to damages to the
corporation’ Id. “To determine whether shareholder claims are direct or derivative

court] must examine both who suffered the harm allegdte shareholders or the

corporation—and who would receive the benefit of any remé&dydiana Elec. Workers

Pension Trust Fund, IBEWv. Dund52 FedApp’x 157 (9th Cir. 2009) (unpublished).

Here, the FAC alleges that MI-HK and Dimensions are the two shareholdees
JV. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC 1 11.) The FAC alleges harm specifically to Plaiatifisnd to
Dimensions. For examplBQ)VIA’s acquisition of Plaintiffs’ pharmaceutical claims data
through Dimensions and subsequent sale to pharmaceutical compabaifomia
alleges injuries suffered by Plaintiffs and not Dimensiqis. 1 10, 17, 110.) As
Plaintiffs explain, MedImpact suffered injuries that were separate from thevgmture
as it was the only shareholder kept in the dark about Defendants’ fraudulent scheme and
their injuries are separate and distinthe Court concludes that Plaintiffs have
sufficiently alleged facts to support a direct-action suit byHWI- Accordingly, the
Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss the breach of fiduciary duty cause of
action.
l. Tenth Cause of Action - RICO

Defendants argue that the tenth cause of action fails to state a RICO claim b
Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to plead two or more gatxlacts that
caused the RICO injuries and failed to allege they have statutory gfdadiring a
RICO claimby failing to allege injuries that are “domestic” and “concrete.” In

contravention, Plaintiffs argues they hawficiently pled numerous “predicate acts” and
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established the required causal link between the RICO actions and the harm syffe
Plaintiffs and they allegemtjuries that are “domestic” and “concrete.”

1. Predicate Acts

The FAC asserts a claim of RICO conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) for
violation of 18 U.S.C. 1962(t) (Dkt. No. 93, FAC 19 202-16.)

To state a claim under 8§ 1962(c), a plaintiff must allege (1) conduct, (2) of an
enterprise, (3) through a pattern, (4) of racketeering activity (known as “predicate acts™),
(5) causing injuryd the plaintiff’s “business or property” by the conduct constituting the
violation. Living Designs, Inc. v. E.l. Dupont de Numours & Co., BZXd 353, 361 (9tHh
Cir. 2005). Under this section, the conduct must be the proximate deheeno
Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 94B61985). Section 1962(d) make
it “unlawful for any person to conspire to violate” § 1962(c). 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).
Because the RICO claim sounds in fraud, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) app
andrequires fraud to be pled with particularitfsee Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). The allegatid
of fraud must be “specific enough to give defendants notice of the particular misconduct
so that they can defend against the charge.” Vess v. CibaGeigy Corp. USA, 317 F.3d
1097, 1106 (9th Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thisresgthe plaintiff
to identify “the who, what, when, where, and how” of the alleged misconduct. Id.

A “pattern of racketing” requires at least two acts of racketeering activity. 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1961(5). Predicate acts of racketeering activity mail fiaud,S.C. § 1341
wire fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1343, and theft of trade secrets, 18 (881831, 1832. Se&8
U.S.C. § 1961(1)

11<(c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engageq
the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or|
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity or
collection of unlawful debt. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).
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The FAC alleges two types of RICO predicates: 1) trade secret misappropri
under the DTSA and 2) mail and wire fraud. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC 11 210(a)-(b).) It
eleven particularized and separate material misrepresentations or omigkdons

The parties do not dispute that a claim under trade secret misappropriation
constitutes a predicate act but disagree on whether Plaintiffs haveesiilfficlleged the
second predicate act of mail or wire fraud.

A mail or wire fraud violation contains three elemerf(#t) the formation of a
scheme to defraud, (B) the use of the mails or wires in furtherance of that scheme,
(C) the specific intent to defratidEclectic Props. East, LLC v. Marcus & Millichap C
751 F.3d 990, 997 (9th Cir. 2014). The gravamen of the offense is the schemeuid,
and any “mailing that is incident to an essential part of the scheme satisfies the mailing
elemenf’ Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 712 (1989) (citation andahtern
quotation marks omitted)yen if the mailing itself “contain[s] no false information.” Id.
at 715.

Defendants argue that the alleged affirmative misrepresentations were all
objectively honest on their face and any suggesif omissions fail because the FAC

has failed to allege there was a duty to disclose any omitted @tiormto support a

ion

leads

and

defra

RICO fraud scheme. Second, Defendants aver that, even if the two alleged acts of mai

or wire fraud survive, the FAC still fails to establish that any such act caweseguty
Plaintiffs allege they suffered. In response, Plaintiffs arfatdXefendants’ assertion
that the affirmative misrepresentations wébjectively honest” is not appropriate on a
motion to dismiss. Next, on the alleged omissions, they asaeththFAC alleges that
Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana had fiduciary duties to Medimpact and IQVIA Defengant
having exclusive knowledge of material facts not known to PiEnthey had a duty to
disclose those facts they actively concealed. Finally, they claim the FACieutfif
alleges proximate causation under RICO.

43
19¢cv1865-GPC(LL)

s b




O© 00 N oo o b W N B

N NN NN DNNNNRRRRRRR R R R
oo ~NI o 00 N0 N R O O 0O N o 00 DN NN RO

The Court agrees with Plaintiffs thHatfendants’ argument disputing the merits g
the affirmative misrepresentatiorssnot appropriate on a motion to dismiss and not a
basis to dismiss the claim

As to whether a duty to disclose must be alleged concerning thedatlegssions
Defendants are correct that a RICO wire fraud claim based on an omission réxguire
existence of an independent duty to disclds8ee United States v. Shie)@44 F.3d
819 822 (9th Cir. 2016) (concludirfghat it was error to not instruct the jury that it mu
find a relationship creating a duty to disclose before it could condhadi@ tmaterial non
disclosure supports a wire fraud chargeRelying on the broad definition of a duty to
disclose in United States v. Milovanovic, 678 F.3d 713, Z229th Cir. 2002), in
Shields, the Ninth Circuitxplained that “a relationship creating a duty to disclose ma
be a formal fiduciary relationship, or anformal,” ‘trusting relationship in which one
party acts for the benefit of another and induces the trusting party to relax the care
vigilance which it would ordinarily exercisé. Id. (citing In re Monnig's Dep't Stores,
Inc. v. Azad Oriental Rugs, Inc., 929 F.2d 197, 201 (5th10@#11) (“Confidential
relationships arise not only from technical fiduciary relationships, batfedm
partnerships, joint ventures, and other informal relationships.”); United States v. Papper
112 F.3d 1073, 1080 (10th Ci997) (“[T]here is not a bright line between formal or
informal fiduciary relationships, and rwi-the-mill commercial relationships . .
[Courts] must carefully distinguish between those arms-length commerei@bmships
where trust is created by the defendant's personality or the victim's credulity, and
relationships in which the victim's trust is based on defendant's pasitioa
transaction.”)); see also Cal. Architectural Bldg. Prods., Inc. v. Franciscan Ceramic
Inc., 818 F.2d 1466, 1472 (9th Cir. 1987) (alleged omissions cannot séhezasis fol

a federal claim of mail or wire fraud “[a]bsent an independent duty, such as a fiduciary

12 plaintiffs rely on California law to analyze a duty to disclose but does not provide legal support
state law duty to disclose may be applied to a federal RICO claim.
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duty or an explicit statutory duty.”) “Where there is a duty to disclose, an elaborate
coverup, a violation of a fiduciary duty, or the omission is accompanied by affiemat
misrepresentations, an omission can support a claim of mail or wire”frBuown v.
LaSalle Northwest Nat. Bank, 820 F. Supp. 1078, 1081 (N.D. 11.)1993

Here, the FAC sufficiently allega duty to disclose based on the omission
allegations on the assertion that Dr. Ghosheh and Sadana, as bodrersnef MIA, had
a fiduciary duty to MIA and owed fiduciary obligations to MedImpact as its sharehg
(Dkt. No. 93, FACY 109.) Asto IQVIA Defendants, the FAC alleges an informal
trusting relationship between them and Plaintiffs whereby Defendantedzad to
Plaintiffs concerning the acquisition of Dimensions anddulhem into believing that
IMS Health was interested in preserving #iveand therefore, Medlmpact, relying on
these misleading assurances, succumbed and agreed to the acqylditifth 35-42.)
See Shields844 F.3dat 822 (“informal, trusting relationship in which one party acts fc
the benefit of another and induces the trusting party to relax the care gawaceigvhich
it would ordinarily exercis®. Therefore, Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged two predic;
acts of racketeering activity.

Finally, as to causation, Defendants claim the FAC fails to establish that dny
act caused the injury Plaintiffs allege they suffered because the decreased revelau
have been caused by other reasons such as a downtown in the market, a nexd unr
competitor or other factors. Plaintiffs respond that their injuries werenpatedy caused
by Defendants’ RICO conduct.

RICO provides civil remedies to a persajured “by reason of” the RICO
violation, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1964(c), which demands that the defendant's viotatioibut
for” causation and proximate cause of the injury to the plaintiff. See Holmes v. Sec.
Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992) (RICO violationresai
“showing that the defendant's violation not only wasua for cause of his injury, but

was the proximate cause as wyll.“[T]he proximate-cause requirement generally bars

suits for alleged harm that is ‘too remote’ from the defendant’s unlawful conduct.”
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Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 572 U.S. 118, 133 (2014). Thus
it “demand][s] . . . some direct relation between the injury asserted and the injurious
conduct alleged.” Holmes, 503 U.S. at 26Banters and Allied Trades District Counci
82 Health Care Fund v. Takeda Pharms. Co., 943 F.3d 1243, (9tlo03). (o establisk
causation for purposes of RICO, a plaintiff must allege “some direct relation between the
injury asserted and the injuriousndact alleged.”).

Here, the misappropriation of trade secret and the alleged mail and wire frau
claimsallege a direct injury to Plaintiff’s revenue. The FAC alleges that due to the RIC
enterprise of stealing Plaintiffs’ trade secrets, Plaintiffs lost revenue by losing clients ar]
caused price erosior{Dkt. No. 93, FAC 11 214(afe).) Specific clients they lost were
Oman Insurance as well as Vidal Health, ADNIC, MetLife, AXA and Aafiya. (Id. {
These are sufficient allegations to demonstrate the but for andnatexcausation
between the conduct and alleged injury necessary to allege RICQ ifjung, the Court
DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss on the failure to sufficiently allege predicate acts
and proximate causation.

2. RICO Statutory Standing

First, Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs havetiib allege a concrete injury
through their allegations of (1) lost revenue from the JV passed throughoMMAL and
ultimately consolidated in MHSI financial statements; (2) distidn of MHSTI's
expected return on its investment of money and San Diego based resources, such
to support MI-HK; (3) the negative impact on MHSprofits resulting from its continued
use of resources to support MK; (4) lost revenudue to Plaintiffs’ compliance with
the JV Agreement precluding them from competing in the Territory; arati¢®) erosion
wherever they compete with IQVIA and Dimensions, (Fif214(a)-(f).) (Dkt. No.
107-1 at 25-28.) Plaintiffs respond that the RICO enterprise caused these tadney
by interfering with their business relationships and by commiftengd and
misappropriating trade secretd®kt. No. 111 at 25-28.)
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Civil RICO “creates a private civil cause of action that allows ‘[a]ny person injured
in his business or property by reason of a violation of section 1962’ to sue in federal
district court and recover treble damages, costs, and attorney’s fees.” RJR Nabisco, Inc.
v. European Cnty., 136 S. Ct. 2090, 2097 (2016) (quoting 18 U.2.954¢)). To
allege civil RICO standing under 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), a “plaintiff must show: (1) that his
alleged harm qualifies as injury to his business or property; and (2) that his harm was ‘by
reason of” the RICO violation.” Canyon Cnty. v. Syngenta Seeds, Inc., 519 F.3d 969
(9th Cir. 2008) (citation omitted)[T]he plaintiff only has standing if, and can only
recover to the extent that, he has been injured in his business or propedycbgdhct
constituting the violation.” Sedima, 473 U.S. at 496Without a harm to a specific
business or property interest-a categorical inquiry typically deternopneeference to
state law-there is no injury to business or property within the meaniniCGi.R Diaz v.
Gates, 420 F.3d 897, 90t <Cir. 2005) (en banc).nIDiaz the Ninth Circuit “held that
an injury 1s compensable under RICO if the injury constitutes “harm to a specific
business or property interest” and if the alleged business or property interest is cognizable
under state law. Attia v. Google LLC, Case No.c¥7/6037-BLF, 2018 WL 2971049, a
*13 (N.D. Cal. June 13, 2018) (citing Dia#20 F.3d at 900)

In Attia, the district court concluded that both factors of Dva@re met. First, the
claim for trade secret misappropriation alleged that Plaintiffs suffereguay to
business or property recognized by state lavat *13. Second, Plaintiffs alleged tha

they were entirgl barred from using their trade secrets after Google allowed them tq

published by the PTO in 2012d. at *14; but see Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Entm't, Inc., 782

F. Supp. 2d 911, 1019 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (no concrete financial loss basgdsolel
plaintiff’s loss of exclusive control over its confidential trade secrets).

In Mattel district court rejected the plaintiff’s arguments contendingl) the loss
of exclusive use of confidential materials is per se concrete financial;if@iyattel's
lost exclusive use of confidential materials resulted in lost market share aprbfds;

and (3) Mattel's lost exclusive use of confidential materials resultedtiopportunity”’
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Id. at 1020. As to lost market share and profits, the court concludetdehaiitas no
causal link between the loss calculations and the injury to Mattepey interest
However, the court noted that financial loss could be establisheer& tvas evidence
about specific contracts, relationships, or sales that wereivedgamnpacted by the
alleged misappropriation of Mattel's trade secréds.

Here, the Court agrees with Defendants that the alleged injury suffered in
paragraph 214 of the FAC are conclusory and do not connect the RICO enterprige

concrete injury. However, allegations in the FAC do support RICO stanBirgj,

“California recognizes a property interest in the confidentiality ankligixe use of trade

secret informtion”; therefore, Plaintiffs’ allegation of trade secret misappropriation
resulted in loss of business or property. Mattel, Inc., 782 F. Su@i.1219. Asto a
specific injury, the FAC alleges specific contracts lost due to the tradeé secre
misappropriation with Oman Insurance as well as Vidal Health, ADNIC, MetAK&,
and Aafiya. (Dkt. No. 93, FA@Y58, 65.) These are sufficient to demonstrate a
concrete financial loss.

Next, Defendants claim that Plaintiffs lack standing because they cangetaalle
domestic injury because any ijjuvould be based on harm to MK, a non-U.S.
subsidiary, who would have suffered as a result of its membership in tHRighuting
Plaintiffs’ argument that MI-HK suffered harm in the U.S. because it has its principal
place of business in San Diego, CA, Defendants note that the California Secretary
State’s records show that MI-HK is not registered to do business in California. (Dkt. |
107-1 at 27-28.)Plaintiffs challenges Defendants’ argument that a corporate entity
suffers economic harm in its principal place of business, relying on Koeete Tns.
Corp. v. ActiveON, Ing Case No.: 1CGV-0811-WQH-MDD, 2018 WL 1281800, at *4
(S.D. Cal. Mar. 9, 2018), and Defendants point to no legal authority dlsout t
significance of MI-HK not being registered to do business in Caldo(Dkt. No. 111 af
25-26.)
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In RIR Nabisco, Inc, 136 S. Git2099, the Courtteld that RICO’s substantive
prohibitions apply to conduct in foreign countries but the injuoagt havebeen suffered
domestically as RIC@oes not allow for recovery for foreign injuries. Id. at 2111. C
district court examined how courts since RJR Nabigee interpreted “domestic injury”,
noting that many courts have found that the location of the plaintifiadjelge injury
was relevant to the injury allegedly suffered by the plaintiff. Korea Trade InS2@&,
WL 1281800, at *4 (collecting cases).

“Although a single rule has not yet emerged, theta general consensus amon
the courts that... the location of a RICO injury depends on where the plaintiff ‘suffered
the injury’—not where the injurious conduct took place.” Unigestion Holdings, S.A v.
UPM Tech., Inc.412 F. Supp. 3d 1273291 (D.Or. Sep. 3, 2019) (quoting Humphrey,
v. GlaxoSmithKline PLC, 905 F.3d 694, 702 (3d Cir. 2018)). The Skv@ntuit has
held that, for intangible injuries, the place of injury for a corporasiots principal place
of business. Armada (Singapore) PTE Ltd. v. Amcol Int'l Corgh,F88d 1090, 109485
(7th Cir. 2018), while the Third Circuit applies a multi-factor test, pluray, 905 F.3at
707 (‘consideration of multiple factors . . .[such as] where the injury itseléatios
location of the plaintiff's residence or principal place of businelssrevany alleged
services were provided; where the plaintiff received or expected to receive thésben
associated with providing such services; where any relevant business agsearre
entered into and the laws binding such agreements; and the locatienactivities
giving rise to the underlying dispute.

In this case, the Court need not determine which rule to apply as underesthe
it is clearMI-HK, as a wholly owned subsidiary of MHSUffered injury in California
which is in clear contrast to the facts in Humphrey and Armad&luinphrey, it was
clear that the injuries were suffered in China as “Plaintiffs lived in China; had their
principal place of business in China; provided services in China (albeiti® American
companies- but even they were operating in China); entered the Consultancy Agre
in China and agreed to have Chinese law govenettwith Defendants’ representatives
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only in China; and themselves indicated on the civil cover sheghthanderlying
incident arose in China . .Plaintiffs have not alleged that they possess offices, asse
any other property in the United Stateslumphrey, 905 F.3d at 707. In Armada, the
Seventh Circuit held that because the plaintiff's principal place of bussriass
Singapore, the harm was suffered there. Armada, 885 F.3d at 1095.

MI-HK has a principal place of business in California, and the employees of
MedImpact in San Diego support MIK’s business. (Dkt. No. 93, FAC { 16.) MHSI
used San Diego-based resources to invest and support MI-HK in thegotare. (1d.
214(b), (c).) As such, due to the RICO enterprise, Plaintiffs haveredffost revenue
that would have been realized in Californigd. 11214(a).) Accordingly, Plaintiffs have
alleged a domestic injury.

The precedents cited by Defendants are inapposite as the plaintiff had no

connection or injuries suffered in the United StalesUthe Tech. Corp. v. Allen, No. C
9502377 WHA, 2016 WL 4492580, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 26, 2016), thetcour
concluded there was no injury in the United States to Plaintiff where theebsism
question, its wholly-owned subsidiary, was in Singapore andrilyanjury was the
diminution in the value of Uthe’s one hundred percent stake in Uthe Singapore.
Moreover in Gusevs v. AS Citadele Bankase No. 2:1@v-03793-SVWFFM, 2016
WL 9086931, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 8, 2016), the court concluded thel@mindid not
allege a domestic injury because the alleged injuries includseslas the lines of cred
they obtained from a Latvian company, secured by property in Latvia and guarantg
a resident of Latviald. Moreover, even though one of the Plaintiff entities claims to
have a principal place of business in the United States, the eadityohconnection to th
transactions or conduct alleged in the compldidt. Therefore, the court concluded th
none of the injuries in question to businesses or propertiesapgphave occurred withi
the United Statesld. at *8.

Accordingly, the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss the RICO cause of

action.
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J. L eave to Amend

Where a motion to dismiss is grantéeéave to amend should be grantedless
the court determines that the allegation of other facts consisténtheithallenged
pleading could not possibly cure the deficierityDeSoto v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.,
957 F.2d 655, 658 (9th Cir. 1992) (quoting Schreiber Distrib. Ceerv-®ell Furniture
Co., 806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir. 1986)). In other words, where leave to amadd

be futile, the Court may deny leave to amend. See Desoto, 957 F.2d at 65&€eBchre

806 F.2d at 1401.

In their opposition, Plaintiffs request leave to amend if the Court graligeissal
of any claims noting that the first motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) was not
addressdby the Court as it was denied as moot. While the Court did not adleess
first motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs had the benefiDefendants’ arguments in that
motion. It is obvious that the FAC was amended in view of these argumperiisularly
concerning CUTSA preemptiormheoriginal complaint alleged that “[a]ll aspects of this
case ultimately lead back to trade secrets and other valuable assets alvpexieanted
in California, a deliberate scheme to target and exploit a California company, and
damages suffed in California”, (Dkt. No. 1, Compl. § 61), and all the common law
claims included factsddressing improper use of MedImpact’s trade secrets and
confidential information,id. 1102, 110, 115. 116, 120, 123, 125). In response to
arguments raised iDefendants’ motion to dismiss, the FAC was drafted specifically t
avoid CUTSA preemption. For example, the FAC deleted paragraph 61 and adde
each common law claim the following sentence: “Plaintiffs’ claim for [common law
claim] stands separate andépendently from Plaintiffs’ claims of trade secret
misappropriation pled below, and is not based on the same nucleus@<aice trade
secret claims, as explained herein”, (id. 11 114, 120, 130, 138, 145, 153), and remove
any refeence to “trade secras” or “confidential information” from the common law
claims. Because Plaintiffs were given an opportunity to addre3SB8greemption in
the FAC, the Court concludes it would be futile to grant them leavedéadm
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Accordingly, the Court DENIES Plaintiffsequest for leave to file a second amendeqg
complaint.
Conclusion

Based on the above, the Court DENIESendants’ motion to dismiss pursuant to
Rule 12(b)(2) for lack of personal jurisdiction, and GRANTS in part andIBENh part
Defendants’ motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim without leave to amend
Specifically, the Court GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss the second cause of
action for inducing breach of contract, third cause of action for intealtioterference
with prospective economic advantage, fourth cause of action for negliggftience
with prospective economic advantage, fifth cause of action for interitioterference
with a contractual relationship, and sixth cause of action for unfaireittirop. The
Court also GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss the seventh cause of action for
conspiracy as to IQVIA Defendants and DENIES it as to Defendants Dr. Ghosheh
Sadana. Finally, the Court DENIES Defendants’ motion to dismiss the first cause of
action for breach of fiduciary duty, eighth cause of action for misappropriation ef tr:
secret under DTSA, the ninth cause of action for misappropriation of trade secests
CUTCA and tenth cause of action for RICO violations

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: august 27, 2020 @ il o &TCO

Hon. Gonzalo P. Curiel

United States District Judge
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